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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

*  Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying finnneial statements of First Citizens Portfolio
Investment Management Services Limited (the Company) which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 30 September 2019, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and eash
flows for the year then ended, and o summanry of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information;

*  Lunsuring that the company keeps proper accounting records;

»  Sclecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

«  Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures seeurity of the
company's assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of company operational
efficiencices;

*  Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

= Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the Companies
Act; and

*  Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Finaneial Reparting,
Standards, as issued by the Inlernational Aceounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards
presented allernative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in the
circumslances.

This Company resumed operations on 1 March 2018,

] 7
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General Manager
26 November 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the sharcholder of
First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Report on the nudit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respeets the financial position of
First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited (1he Company) as at 30 Seplember
2019, and ils financinl performance and its eash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Inmernational Finaneial Reporting Stimdards.

What we have audited
The Company's financial statements comprise:

e the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2019;
the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended,;

.

» the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,;

» the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

* the noles to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance wilh International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Qur
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report,

We believe that the audil evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion,

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
cthical responsibilitics in accordanee with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statecments

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the finaneial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to cnable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether duc to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management cither intends to liguidate the Company or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, Trinidad, West Indies
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are Lo obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from materinl misstatement, whether due 1o frand or error, and 1o issue an auditor's report that
inclides our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordiance with 15As will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 1o influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial stalements,

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
seeplicism throughout the audit. We also:

*  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence thal is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not delecting,
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
conlrol.

*  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circttmstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control,

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimales and related disclosures made by management,

» Conclude on the appropriatencss of management's use of the going coneern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to conlinue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our anditor’s
report Lo the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as

a going concern,
= FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicale with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Rrv et o G N
Port of Spain ’\‘\

Trinidad, West Indies
g December 2019
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

As at
30 September
Notes 2019 2018
$ $
Assets
Cash and due from bank 6] 44,702,919 33,056,564
Property, plant and equipment 6 93,108 237,432
Other assets 7 11,210,175 8,454,992
Deferred tax asset 8 637 2,481
Tax recoverable 3,816,745 2,786,142
Total assets 59.823.584 44 537 611
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses 9 2,254,449 12,999,799
Tax Payable 6,397,440 -
Total liabilities B.651,889 12,999,799
Capital and reserve attributable
to the company's equity holders
Share capital 10 5,594,000 5,594,000
Retained earnings 45,677,695 25,943,812
Total shareholder’s equity 51,171,695 31,537,812
Total equity and liabilities 59,823,584 44,537,611

The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On 26 November 2019, the Board of Directors of First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services
Limited authorised these financial statements for issue.

@Am,{ E&«chﬂuwj\ Director % M Director
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Income
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Year ended
30 September
2019 2018
Notes $ $
Fee income 11 69,754,642 38,291,683
Interest income 24735 7,189
Other income 441
Foreign exchange gain - 85314
Total net income 69,779,818 38,384,186
Adminstrative expense 12 (3,666,546) {1,672,057)
Other operating expense 13 {2.000,167) {715,073)
Profit before taxation 64,113,105 35,897,056
Taxation 14 {19,319,424) (10,837,258)
Profit for the year 44 793,681 25 159,798

The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Year ended
30 September
2019 2018
$ $
Profit for the year 44 793 681 25,158 798
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the yoar 44,793,681 25,159,798

The noles on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Balance as at 1 October 2018

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid (Note 15)

Balance at 30 September 2019

Balance as at 1 October 2017

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid (Note 15)

Balance at 30 September 2018

Other Retained
Share capital reserves earnings Total equity
$ $ $ $

5,594,000 - 25943 812 31,537,812
- - 44,793,681 44,793,681

-- -- 44 793,681 44,793 681

- - (25,158,798)  (25,159,798)
5,594,000 - 45577 695 51,171,695
5,594,000 - 784,014 6,378,014
- - 25,159,798 25,159,798

-- - 25,159,798 25,159,798
5,594,000 - 25,943,812 31,537,812

The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Cash flows from operating actlvities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments to reconcile profif to netl cash provided by operating
activities:

Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain)

Deprecialion expense
Tax paid

Net cash flow from operating activities before changes in operating
assets & llabilities

Net change in other assels
Net change in creditors and accrued expenses
Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities
Dividends paid

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net effect of foreign exchange differences

Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
At beginning of period

At end of period

Represented by:
Cash and due from bank

Year ended
30 September
2019 2018
$ $
64,113,105 35,997,056
-- 3,567
152,762 B7,758
(13,950,743) (11,039,642)
50,315,124 25,048,739
(2,755,183} (8,454 992)
(10,745,350) 12,906,478
36,814,591 29,500,225
(8,438) (325,190)
{8,438) {325,190)
(25,169,798)
(25,159,798) --
- (3,567)
11,646,355 29,171,468
33,056,564 3,885,096
44 702,919 33,056,564
44 702,919 33,056,564

The notes on pages 9 to 43 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolflars)

1

Geoeneral information

First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited {the "Company"}, is
incorporated in the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and is engaged in the provision of financial
managemen! services as is authorised pursuant {o its registration under Section 51 (1) of the

Securittes Act 2012 as an Investment Advisor, It was a wholly owned subsidiary of First Citizens
Bank Limited untit 31 August 2018

Effective 1 Seplember 2018, First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS) assumed control of
the Company. The ullimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company with a
64.43 % controlling inlerest and is owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and
Tobago (GORTT). The remainder of the shares are listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock
Exchange and are publicly lraded.

The Company's registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated

a Basis of preparafion

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements are prepared under the
liquidation basis of accounting. The business operations of the Company resumed on 1
March 2018 after being wound up at 30 June 2016.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. it aiso requires management to exercise its judgment in the
pracess of applying the Company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(i) Standards, amendments and inferpretations which are effective and have been
adopted by the Company in the current period

» |FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018). This
standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all
contracts with customers. The five steps in the model are as follows:

- IMdentify the contract with the customer

- ldentify the performance obligations in the contract

- Determine the transaction price

- Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts
- Recognise revenue when {or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

(8)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Exprossed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continuod)

a  Basis of praparation {continued)

{i) Standards, amendmen!s and inlerpretations which are effective and have been adopled
by the Company in the current period {conlinued)

IFRS 2 - Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
{Amendmenls effective 1 January 2018). This amendment is o clarify the standard in
relation to the accounting for cash-seltled share-based payment transactions that
include a performance condition, the classification of share-based payment
transactions with net settlement fealures, and the accounting for modifications of
share-based payment transaclions from cash-settled to equity-settled.

(1) Standards, amendments and interprelations lo existing slandards thal are not yel
effective and have not been early adopled by the Company

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to exisling slandards are not
yet effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017 and have not
been early adopted by the Company

IFRS 16 Leases (effective 1 January 2019). This slandard specifies how an IFRS
reporter will recognise, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single
lessee accounting medel, requiring lessees {o recognise assets and liabilities for all
leases unless the lease term in 12 months and less or the underlying assets has a
low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance.

IFRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments {Effective 1 January 2019).
The interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit {tax loss), tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over
income tax treatments under !AS 12. It specifically considers:

o Whether tax treatments should be considered collectively

o Assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations

o The determination of taxable profit (tax loss}, tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credits and tax rates

o The effect of changes in facts and circumstances

(10)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policles {continued)

a. Basis of praparation (conlinued)

{iii)

Standards, amendmenls and interprelations to existing slandards that are not yet
effeclive and have not been early adopled by the Company

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards
nol yet effective on the financial slatemenis.

b Foreign currency translation

(1

(1)

Funclional and preseniation currency

Items included in the financial stalements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The
financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency. The exchange rate between the TT
doltar and the US dollar as at the date of these statements was TT$ 6.6926 = US$1.00
(2018 TT$6.6926=1S$1.00). This rate represents the First Citizens Group mid-rate.

Transactlions and balances

Foreign currency iransactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and [osses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominaled in foreign currencies are
recognised in the stalement of comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between
translation differences resuiting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and
other changes in the carrying amount of security. Translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss and other changes in
carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences
on non-monetary items such as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income financial assets are included in other comprehensive income.

c. Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)

Financial assels

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following business models:

» Hold for trading
» Hold to collect and sell or
Hold to collect

Based on these factars, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the
following three measurement categories:

(1)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2019
{Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policlies (continued)
Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(W Financial assels (continued)

Amortised cos!

Assels {hat are held for collection of contraclual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)), and that are not designated at FVPL are
measured al amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expecled
credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.a. Interest income from
these financial assels - cash and due from other banks are included in “Interest income” using
the effeclive inlerest rate method

Fair value lhrough other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, and that are
not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
{FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the
instrument's amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or Joss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit and loss and recognised in "Net Investment Income”. Financial assels in this
category include unlisted equity instruments that are held for investment.

Fair value through prolit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVYOCI| are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequentiy measured at fair
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recegnised in profit or
loss and presented in the “income statement within "Gains on investments securities” in the
period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were classified at fair value
or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented in Investment Interest
Income. Financial assets in this category include listed equity instruments that are held for

investment,
Company's Business mode!

The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash
flows. An assessment is made at a portfolio fevel and includes an analysis of factors such as:

« The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice.
More specifically whether the Company's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising
from tha sale of the assets.

» Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.

» Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to key
management personnel.

« Managements identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not limited
to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk.

« Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and forecasted

liguidity requirements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Exprossed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policlos {continuod)
Financial assets and financial liabilties (continued)
(i) Financial assels (continued)

Anising out of the assessmenl the portfolios were deemed to have the business models
identifed as follows

} Hold to Collect Hold 1o Collect & Sell

' Fee income receivable | Cash
1 Due from related party

Imparrment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credil losses (ECL)
associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVQCI and with the exposure arising
from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracls. The Company recognises & loss
allowance for such losses al each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

* An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes,

s The time value of money; and

= Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort a the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

» Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured

Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solely
payment of principat and interest {SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Company
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through

profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include
ordinary shares.

The Company subsequently measures ail equity investments at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the Company's management has elected, at inittal recognition, to irrevocably
designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

(13)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {(continued)

30 September 2019
{Exprassed in Trnidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(1)

(ii)

Financial assels (continued)
Equuly instruments {continued)

The Company's policy is to designate equily invesiments as FVOC! when those investments
are held {or purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used,
fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCl and are not subsequently reclassified lo
profit or loss, including on disposat. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are
not reported separately from other changes in fair value

Dividends, when representing a return on such invesimenls, continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Company's right lo receive payments is established

Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Income
Statement

Financial liabilities
(a} Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified and subsequently
measured at amorlised cost.

(b  Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing
financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially
different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the criginal effective
interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as
the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate,
new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also
taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of
the gain or loss on the extinguishment.

If the exchange or medification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.

(14)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policles {continuad)
c Impairmen! of non-financial assels

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment  Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumsiances indicate thal the carrying amount may nol be
recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an assel's
fair value less costs o sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversai of the impairment at each reporting date.

d Lease lransactions

Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. They are divided into
finance leases and operating leases. Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
methods of ownership are relained by another party, the lessor, are classified as operaling
leases. Leases of assels where the Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases,

(i  The Company as the lessee

The Company has entered into operating leases where the total payments made under
operaling leases are charged {o the income statement on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the period has
expired, any penalty payment made to the lessor is recognised as an expense in the
period in which termination takes place.

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, an asset and liability is recognised in
the statement of financial position at amounts equal at inception to the fair vaiue of the
leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease
payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the outstanding liability so
as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the usefui life of the asset and the

iease term.

e. Offselting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liabifity

simultaneously.

(15)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

f

Income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equily, respectively

The current income tax charge Is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacled at the balance sheel date in the countries where the company and ils
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management periodicatly evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect lo situalions in which applicable tax regulation is
subjec! fo interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriale on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initia! recognition of goodwili, deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an assetl or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacled by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settied

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention {o seltle the
balances on a net basis,

Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash

balances on hand, deposits with commercial banks and short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less when purchased.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

h

Interes! income and expense

Interest income and inlerest expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basts using the effective interest
method based on the aclual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on
fixed income investiments and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other
discounled instruments

The effective interest methed is @ methed of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exaclly discounts estimated future
cash paymenls or receipts through the expected life of the financial insirument, or when
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financtal
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimales cash flows
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment
options), but does not cansider future credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or
received between parties lo the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result
of an impairment foss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to
discount the fulure cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Dividend distribution

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are
approved by the Company's shareholders. Dividends for the year, which are declared after
the year end, are disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class
of the obligation as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Other deblors and prepayments
Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances

and related parties. These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

(17)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financlal Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{(Exprossed In Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policles {continued)

Properly, plant and equipmant

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cos! less depreciation

Historical cost includes expenditure thal is directly attributable o the acquisition of the items
Subsequent costs are included in the assetl's carrying amount or recognised as a separale
assel, as appropriate, only when it is probable thal future economic benefits associated wilh
the tem will flow to the Company and the cosl of the ilem can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and mainlenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred

Leasehold improvemenls and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation
Depreciation and amorlisation are computed on ali assets excepl land

The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Equipment and furniture 4-5 years
Computer equipment and molor vehicles 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease

The assets' useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.
Assets that are subject lo amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the assels fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Gains and losses on disposal of
property, plant and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are
recognised within the income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts
included in fair value reserves are transferred to retained eamings. As at September 2019
Freehold premises were nil (September 2018: nil).
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{(Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

m

intangible assels

Intangible assels comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
compuler software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangibie assels are recognised at
cosl. The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at
the date of acquisilion. Intangible assels with a definite usefu! life are amortised using the
siraight line method over the period that the benefils from these assets are expecled lo be
consumed, generally not exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life
are nol amortised. At each date of the statement of tinancial position, intangible assets are
reviewed for indicalions of impairment or changes in estimated fulure economic benefits, 1f
such indications exist, lhe intangible assets are analysed to assess whether their carrying
amount is fully recoverable. An impairment Joss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds
the recoverable amount

The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired

(i} Otherintangible assels

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from
contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reiiably and in the case of
inlangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future
economic benefits attributes to the assets with flow from their use. The vaiue of
intangible assets which are acquired in a business combinalion is generally determined
using income approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for
impairment, if any, plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised over their
useful lives in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash

(i) Computer software

Cosls associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as
an expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the
benefits of computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and
lives is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the
software. Computer software development costs recognised as assets when the
following criteria are met;-

o It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it

o Management intends to complete the software and use it

o There an ability to use the software

o Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development

and to use it
o The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably

measured

The saftware development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their
useful [ives but not exceeding a period of three years.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continuad)

n

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past eventls, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefils will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable eslimale of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where there are a number of simiiar obligations, the
Ikelihood thal an outfiow will be required in setllement is determined by considering the class
of the obligation as a whole. A provision is recognised even if ihe likelihood of an outflow
with respecl to any one ilem inciuded in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to

setlle the obligation using a pre tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to

the passage of time is recognised as interest expense

Employee benefils
{iy Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan

Staff members were admitted 1o the First Citizens (the Group) defined benefit pension
plan with effect from 1 January 2010 and their pensionable service in this plan
commenced from this dale.

The Group operales a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefits thal an employee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation.
This pension plan is funded by payments from employees and by the Company, taking
account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

The Group's defined benefit plan operates as a plan which shares risks among
subsidiaries of the Group which are under common control. The Group's policy is to
recognise the net defined benefit cost of the plan in the separate financial statements of
First Citizens Bank Limited, the entity which is legally considered the sponsoring
employer of the plan. The Company recognises a cost equal to its contribution payable
for its employees in its separate financial statements. Typically, defined benefit plans
define an amount of pension benefit that an empioyee will receive on retirement, usually
dependent on one or mere factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is
the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less
the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is calculated based on cash outilows allocated to current or
prior periods using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. In countries where there is
no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used. Pension
contributions for the year amounted to TT$227,033 (2018; TT$91,486).
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{(Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continuod)
0 Employee benelits (continued)
(i) Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
on a formula thal takes into consideration the Company's profit before taxation. The
Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past
praclice that has created a conslructive obligation

{ni) Employee stock option plan

The Company operates a cash-settled based remuneration plan for its employees. A liability
is recogn'sed for the fair value of the cash-setlled transactions, The fair value is measured
initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in
the fair value recognised in the income statement. The fair value is expensed over the

period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability.

p Payables and other liabilities

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, clients, business related
expenses and related parlies. These are short term in nature and seitlement is expected within
one year. Payables and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction
costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs,

q. Fee and commission income

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018). This standard
provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.
The five steps in the model are as follows:

- Identify the contract with the customer

- Identify the performance obligations in the contract

- Determine the transaction price

- Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts
- Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers. The performance obligations
are very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts, private
placements, portfolio management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio

management.

Fees and commissions are recognised either at a point in time when the service has been
provided or over time as the perfarmance obligations are satisfied. Commissions and fees arising
from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses
are recognised at a point in time on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other
management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts
usually on a time apportioned basis.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notos to the Financial Statomonts (continued)

30 September 2019
(Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollors)

2 Summary of significant accounting policios {continuad)

q Feo and commission income (continuod)

Assel management fees relaled lo investment funds are recognised rateably over the period
the service Is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales The same

principle is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services thal are
conlinuously provided over an extended period of time

The impact from the transition lo IFRS 15 as at 30 Seplember 2019 is Nil

r Investment management fees
Fees and commissions related to the provision of investment management services are
recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level Agreement with its parent, First Cilizens

Investmenl Services Limited. The Service Level Agreement came into effect March 2018 for
an initial period of two years

(22)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3

Financial risk management

The Company's aclivities expose it to a variety of financia! risks and those activities involve the
analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks.
Taking risk is core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable
consequence of being in business. The Company's aim is therefore lo achieve an appropriate
balance between risk and return and minimise polential adverse effects on the Company's
financial performance.

The Company's risk managemenl policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of
reliable and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management
policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk managemen! framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens (the Group) has overall responsibility for the establishment
and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. To assist the Board of Directors in
fulfiliing its duties, two Board Sub-Committees were established to monitor and report to the Board
of Directors on the overall risks within the Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Committee and the
Board Credit Committee; and two Senior Management Committees — the Senior Manager Risk
Committee and the Asset Liability Committee.

The Enterprise Risk Unit, headed by the Chief Risk Officer, is responsible for the management,
measurement, monitoring and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Company
through the Operational Risk Unit, Credit and Risk Administration Unit, Market Risk Unit and
Business Continuity Planning Unit. The Enterprise Risk Unit reports into the Senior Management
Risk Committee to allow monitoring of the adherence to risk limits and the impact of developments
in the aforementioned risk areas on strategy and how strategy should be varied in light of the
developments.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCQ) was established to manage and monitor the policies and
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange
rates and other factors that can affect the Company's liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to
acceplable levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and
liabilities across the Bank and the Group's various companies via the Treasury and International
Trade Centre. The Treasury and International Trade Centre's primary role and responsibility is to
actively manage the Company's liquidity and market risks. The ALCO is also supported in some
specific areas of activity by the Group's Market Risk Committee.

As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overall risk management, as
well as ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments. |n addition, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for the independent
review of risk management and the control environment, and reports its findings and
recommendation to the Board Audit Committee,

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk.
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Exprossod in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financlal risk management (continued)

n

Credil risk

Credil risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Company's cuslomers,
clients or market counterparties fail to fulfil thelr conlractual obligations to the Company
Credit nsk arises mainly {from inlerbank, commercial and consumer loans and advances, and
loan commitments arising from such lending activities, bul can also arise from credit
enhancement provided, financial guaraniees, letters of credil, endorsements and
acceptances

Cred# risk is the single largest risk for the Company's business, management therefore
carefully manages its exposure {o credit risk. The credit risk management and control are
centralised in a Group Credit Risk Management team which reports regularly to the Group
Chief Risk Officer and the Board Credit Committee

{  Credi risk managemeni

In its management of credit risks, the Group has established an organisational
structure which supports the iending philosophy of the Group. This siructure
comprises the Board of Directors, the Board Credit Committee (BCC), Senior
Management Enterprise Risk Commitlee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer
(GCRO), the Group Credit Risk Management Unit and the Internal Audit Depariment
The Board of Directors maintains general oversight to ensure that policies and
procedures are consistent with the strategic direction and credit philosophy of the
Group and that they serve to bring the required fevel of protection over assets that are
exposed to credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision making and timely
implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for specific areas to
specific committees and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system to the Board.
The BCC focuses primarily on credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions
amendments to credit policies, delegation of lending authority to senior management
and credit requests exceeding the authority of management. The SMERC together
with the GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit poiicies and procedures and may
direct changes to strategies lo improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus
of the Credit Risk Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance
with them and on a continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing
business environment. Most of these policies are established and communicated
through the Group's written Credit Policy Manual. This document sets out in detail the
current policies governing the lending function and provides a comprehensive
framework for prudent risk management of the credit function. Major areas of focus
are General Credit Policy Guidelines, Exercise of Lending Authority, Credit Review
Process, Credit Risk Rating and Classification System, among others.

Credit risk exposure relating to financial assets on the statement of financial
position are as follows:

2019 2018
$ $
Cash and due from bank 44,702,919 33,056,564
Other debtors 11,097,101 8,454,794
55,800,020 41,511,358

There were no credit risk exposures relating to off-statement of financial position items.

(24)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2019
{Exprassed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continuod)

a Credil risk {continued)

{li) Risk limil control and mitigation policy

The Company structures the levels of credd risk it underiakes by placing limits on the
amount of risk accepted in relation o one borrower, or groups of borrowers, industry and
country segments. The Company monilors its concentration of credit exposure so that no
single borrower or industry default will have a material impact on the Company. These
imits are implemented and monilored by the Credit Administration Department via the
stipulations of the Group Credit Policy Manual

(a}

Industry exposure limils

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries. The ranking is guided by a model developed for the Company for this
purpose. The model utilises a scale incorporating scores of 1 to 8 with 1 being the
least nisky. These have been consolidated into four {4) bands of exposure limits
which have been sel in relation to the total credit portfolio with a smaller limit being
assigned lo the more risky industries.

Country exposure limils

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries which are considered to
be within the Company's off-shore catchment area and/or target market. Five risk
categories have been developed and the selected countries have been assigned to
these categories based either on ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the
Company's own internal assessment of the economic and political stability of the
target. Maximum cross border exposure has been limited to a pre-determined
portion of total assets and this amount is allocated to the various risk categories with
a larger share being alfocated to the more highly rated categories.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Cxprossed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

K] Financlal risk management (continued)
a Credil risk (continued)
{m)  Definition of defaull and credit-impaired assels

The Company defines a financial insirument as in default, which is fully aligned with the
definlion of credil- impaired, when it meets one or more of the following crteria

Quantitative crileria
The borrower is more than 80 days past due on its coniractual payments
Qualitative criteria

The berrower meels unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in
significant financial difficully. These are instances where:

» The borrower formally files for bankruplcy or there ts a start of foreclosure
proceedings,

« The obiligalion is classified doubtful or worse as per the Company’s classification
process.

* A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not
normally be considered is executed.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Company
and are consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management
purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability of
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout the
Company's expected loss calculations. An instrument is considered o no longer be in
default {i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the default criteria for a
consecutive period of six months. This period of six months has been determined based
on an analysis which considers the likelthood of a financial instrument returning to default
status after cure using different possible cure definitions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk managemant (continued)

a. Credit risk (conlinuad)

(iv)

Concenlration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure — Geographical seclors

The following table breaks down the Company's main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by gecgraphical region as of 30 Seplember 2019, For this table,
the Company has allocated exposures 1o regions based on the country of domicile of ils
counterparties. The Company's investment porifolio comprising cash and cash
equivalents, and fees receivables are in one country. Limits for the country are reviewed
on an annuatl or more frequent basis and the exposures are monitored on a daily basis.
The country exposures are categorised into one regional sector within the portfolio are as
follows:;

Caribbean Total
$'000 $'000
At 30 September 2019
Cash and due from bank 44,702,919 44,702,819
Other assets 11,097 101 11.097 101
As at 30 September 2019 55,800,020 55,800,020
Caribbean Total
$000 $'000
At 30 September 2018
Cash and due from bank 33,056,564 33,066,564
Other assets 8,454,794 8,454 794
As at 30 September 2018 41,511,358 41,511,358
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Exprossed In Trinided and Tobago Dollars)

K] Financial risk management {(continuod)

b

Markot nsk

The Company takes on exposure 10 market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Market nsks anse from open posilions in inleres! rate, currency and equily products, all of
which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of
volalility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates and equily prices. The Company separales exposures 10 markel risk into either trading
or non-trading porifolios. The markel risks arising from frading and non-trading activilies are
measured separalely by the Company Market Risk depariment who submit reports lo the
Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee on a regular basis. Additionally, on a
monthly basis, the Group's Market Risk Committee reviews and approves the yield curves
used to value all Investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO. This
Commitlee also provides for the consideration of the Group ALCO technical information that
may be relevant to current and developing market conditions from time to time.

Trading portfolios include those portfolios arising from markel-making transactions where the
Company acts as a principal with clients or with the market. Trading portfolios are those
posilions entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital
gains,

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest-rate management of the Company's
retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of
inlerest rate, foreign exchange and equity risks arising from the Company’s financia! assets.

As part of the management of market risk, the Company uses overall exposure in relation to
capilal as the basis for controlling market risk,

As at 30 September 2019, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk
represented 99% of capilal (30 Seplember 2018: 93%).
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30 September 2019
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b Markel risk (conhinued)

(1)

Currency risk

The Company takes on exposure lo the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows, It is the policy of the
Company not 1o engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets
imits on the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are
moenitored periodically. The Company does not currenily engage in any hedging
activities to mitigate currency risk. The Company's strategy of managing this risk is to
buy low and sell high; eslabtish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners;
limit foreign exchange exposure, avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced
position, and match foreign currency denominated assels with foreign currency
denominaled liabilities. The table below summarises the Company's exposure to
foreign currency exchange rate risk at 30 September 2019. Included in the table are the
Company's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

At 30 September 2019
Assets

Cash and due from bank
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses
Total liabilities

Net on statement of financial position

At 30 September 2018

Assets

Cash and due from bank

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses
Totat liabilities

Net on statement of financial position

TT us Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
25,960,734 18,742,1B5 44,702,919
9,953,434 1,143,667 11,097,101
35,914,168 19,885,852 55,800,020
1,769,923 484,526 2,254,449
1,769,923 484,526 2,254,449
34,144 245 19401326 53,545,571
T us Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
25,411,012 7,645,552 33,056,564
7,355,701 1,099,093 8,454,794
32,766,713 8,744,645 41,511,358
12,663,733 336,066 12,999,799
12,663,733 336,066 12,999,799
20,102,980 8,408,579 28,511,559

If the Trinidad and Tobago dollar depreciates by 250 basis poinis against the United States
dollar, the profits would increase by $485,033 (2018: $210,214).
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First Citizens Portfolio Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)
c. Liguidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or oblain sufficient cash or
its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall due
under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The
undiscounted receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mifigaled because these cash flows
are generally settled within three to thirty days.

Liquidity risk management process

The Company's liquidity management process s carried out by the Treasury and International
Trade Centre and monitored by the Group's Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO).

The Company's liguidity management framework is designed to ensure that there are adequate
reserves of cash and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arnsing
from either on-statement of financial position or off-statement of financial position liabilities.

The Company relies on a broad range of funding sources and applies prudent limits to avoid undue
concentration. Current and projecled cash flows are monitored, together with diversification of
funding and contingency planning, and ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.

Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Company Market Risk Unit and

reported into the Senior Risk Management Committee via the Enterprise Risk Unit to the Board
Enterprise Risk Committee.

As at 30 September 2019

Upto i 1to3 Jto12 1to 5 Over5

month months months years years Total
Assets $ $ $ $ $ $
Cash and due from bank 44,702 919 -- - - - 44,702,919
Other assets 11,097,101 - - - -- 11,097,101
Total assets 55,800,020 -- -- -- -- 55,800,020
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued
expenses 2,187,232 30,828 61,656 -- - 2279716
Total liabilities 2,187,232 30,828 61,656 -~ -- 2,279,716
Liquidity gap 53,612,788 (30,828) (61,656) -- - 53,520,304
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

J Financial risk management {continued)

c.  Liguidily risk (continued)

As at 30 September 2018

Upto | Tto3 3to12 1to 5 Over5

month months months years years Total
Assets $ 5 $ $ $ $
Cash and due from bank 33,056,564 - - - -- 33,056,564
Other Assets B,454,794 - - - -~ BA454 794
Total assets 41,511,358 -- - -- - 41511 358
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued
expenses 12,787,081 30,828 138,726 107,898 -- 13,064,533
Total liabilities 12,787,081 30,828 138,726 107,898 - 13,064,533
Liquidity gap 2B, 724277 (30,828) ({138,726) (107,898) -- 28,446,825

d. Price risk

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices {other than those arising from interest rate risk or
currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial

instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting al! similar financial instruments traded in the market. The
Company is not exposed to other price risk as it holds no equity instruments.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 Septamber 2019
(Exprossed in Trinldad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk managoment (continuod)
e Off-statemant of financial position tems
(n Financial guarantees and other financial facilities

As of 30 September 2019, the Company had no financial guarantees or olher financial
facilties thal result in a commitmenl to meet financial obligations (2018: nil)

{(y  Capittal commitmenls
The Company had no capital commitmenls as at 30 September 2018 {2018 nil)
{my  Operaling lease commitmemnts

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 30 September 2019
(2018 nil)

f Operational risk

Operating risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from system failure, human error,
fraud and external events. The Company's objective is to manage operaticnal risk so as to
balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Company's reputation with
overall cost effectiveness and innovation. The Company manages this risk by developing
standards and guidelines in the following areas:

Appropriate segregalion of duties and access.

Reconciling and monitoring of transactions.

Documentation of controls and procedures.

Training and development of staff.

Reporing of operational losses and proposed remedial actions.
Development of contingency plans.

Information security.

Assessments of the processes.

Business continuity planning.
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First Citizens Portfolio and investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

K] Financial risk management {(continued)
g Fair value of inancial assels and liabilities
{iy Financial instrumenis not measured al fair value
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial

assets and |:abililies presented on the Company's statement of financia! position at an
amount other than their fair value

Carrying value Fair value
2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ $ $
Financial assets
Cash and due from
bank 44,702,919 33,056,564 44,702,919 33,056,564
Other assets 11,097,101 8,454,794 11,097,101 8,454,794
Financial liabilities
Creditors and accrued
expenses 2254 449 12,985,799 2,254 449 12,999,799

The fair values of the Company's financial instruments are determined in accordance with
International Accounting Standard (IFRS} 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Financial instrumenlis where carrying value is equal o fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values. Financial instruments where carrying value is
equal to fair value include cash and due from bank.

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include
cash and due from bank and other debtors.

Cash and cash equivalents

This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of
these short term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

Receivables

Receivables are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of receivables
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

k!

Financial risk managemaent (continued)
h Capital management

The Company's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the
‘'equity’ on the face of the statement of financial position are

« Tocomply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets
where the Company operales,

» To safeguard the Company's ability o continue as a qoing concern so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits {or other stakehelders, and

« To maintain a strong capilal base 1o support the development of its business

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company's
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission {the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required
information is filed with the Authority on a regular basis as required.

The Authorily requires each securities company to hold the minimum level of regulatory
capital of five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. During those two periods, the Company
complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Company makes eslimales and assumptions about the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. No estimates and assumptions
were made which would have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

a. income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and
liabilities in the period in which such determination is made. When appropriate, particularly
where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, management also obtains opinions or
advice from leading tax advisors and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such
exposures.

The Company is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions. Tax is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Substantive
enactment is considered to be achieved when further steps in the enactment process will not
change the outcome of a proposed change in tax iaw. Management considers the legislative
process applicable in each jurisdiction in which it operates in determining at what point a
proposed change in tax law will be considered substantively enacted by identifying the point
after which further steps in the enactment process will not affect the outcome of the proposed

change.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies {continued)

b.

Fees and commissions

The standard outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from
contracls with customers. IFRS 15 does not distinguish between revenue from sales of goods
and services or construction contracts. Instead, it defines transactions based on performance
obligalions satisfied over time or at a point in time. The core underlying principle is that an
entity should recognise revenue in a manner that depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and
services to customers. The amount recognised should reflect the amount to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

Revenue
type

Pension Fund
& Private
Portfolio

[ Other

Allocate the transaction
price to separate
performance obligations

Revenue are recognised over
time for the full completion of
the scope of works to the

| contract
Revenue are recognised over
time for the full completion of
the scope of works to the

contract

The impact from the transition to IFRS 15 as at 30 September 2019 is Nil.

Recognise Timing of Impact
revenue when (or revenue from
as) each | recognition | adopting
performance IFRS15
obligation is
_satisfied -
There is no Completion Nil
separation of of full service
performance over time
obligation |
There is na ' Completion | Nil
separation of of full service
performance over time
‘obligation
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 September 2019

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

5

Cash and due from banks

Cash at bank

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 September 2019
Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals at cost

Disposal - Acc depreciation
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 30 September 2019
Cost/revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 September 2018
Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals at cost

Disposal - Acc depreciation
Depreciation charge

Ciosing net book amount

At 30 September 2018
Cost/revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

2019 2018
$ $
44702 919 33,056,564
44,702,919 33,056,564
Office
Motor Computer Furniture
vehicles equipment & Fittings Total
$ $ $ $
222,171 15,261 -- 237,432
- B,436 2 8,438
(140,319) {12,443) - (1582,762)
81,852 11,254 2 93,108
304,024 29,602 2 333,628
(222,172) (18,348) -- {240,520)
81,852 11,254 2 93,108
Office
Motor Computer Furniture &
vehicles equipment Fittings Total
$ $ $ $
304,024 21,166 -- 325,190
(81.853) (5,905) - (87,758)
222171 15,261 237,432
304,024 21,166 - 325,180
{81,853) (5,905) - {87,758)
222,171 15,261 -- 237,432
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

7 Other assets
2019 2018
$ $
Fee income receivable 10,594,354 8,439,575
Due from related parly 455,729 10,534
Green fund levy recoverable 47,017 4,685
Prepayments 113,074 198
inlangible asset 1 -
11,210,175 8,454,992

Fee income receivable in the amount of $1,688,822.36 is past due as at the balance sheet date.
Management has considered the duration and probability of default on these receivables based on past
experience. TTD 956K has been determined to have an expected credit loss of TTD 84K. This amount is
not included in the P&L.

As at 30 September 2019
Up to 1to 3 3 to 12 1to 5 Over

1 month months months Years 5 Years Total
Fee income receivable $ $ $ $ $ $
Pension plan fees 718,853 1,478,117 1,339,462 35,000 - 3,571,532
Mutual fund fees 6,408,380 - - -- —~ 6,408,380
Other fund fees 129,779 160,303 247,154 77,206 - 614,442

7,257,112 1,638,420 1586616 112,206 — 10,594,354

(39)




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

8

Deferred income tax assot

Deferred income laxes are calculated on all lemporary differences under the liability method using
an effective lax rate of 30% (2018. 30%)

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows

Al beginning of year

Credit 10 income statement (Note 14)

At end of year

Deferred income tax assets
Unrealised exchange gains
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred income tax assets
Unrealised exchange gains
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

2019 2018
$ $
2,481 --
{1,844) 2,481
637 2,481
Balance at
Chargel/{credit) 30
Balance at1 Charge/(credit) to income September
October 2018 to equity statement 2019
$ $ $ $
1,070 - - 1,070
1,411 — {1,844) (433)
2,481 -- (1,844) 637
Balance at
Chargel/(credit) 3o
Balance at1 Chargel/{credit) to income September
October 2017 to equity statement 2018
5 $ $ $
- - 1,070 1,070
- = 1,411 1,411
-- - 2,481 2,481

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceabie right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to

the same fiscal authority.

The Company does not have any unrecognised losses. Deferred tax asset is expected to be

recovered as follows:

Within 12 months
After 12 months

2019 2018
$'000 $'000
1,070 1,070
(433) 1,411
637 2,481
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

D

10

11

12

Creditors and accrued expenses

Due to related parties
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities

2019 2018
) 5
1,179,158 12,541,318
1,075,291 458,481
2,254,449 12,899,799

Included in amounts Due to related parties, $227,391 (2018: $11,339,394) is due to First Citizens
Bank (the Bank). This is made up of payments made on behalf of the Company to the directors and
other vendors by the Bank. These amounts are non-interest bearing and has no fixed terms of

repayment.

Share capital

Authorised

5,000,000 shares of no par value

Issued and fully paid

4,999,999 ordinary shares of no par value

Fee income

Pension plan fees
Mutual fund fees
Other fund fees

5,694,000 5,594,000
8,942,514 4,937,886
58,960,448 33,086,579
1,851,680 257,218
69,754,642 38,281,683

All fees and commissions are specific to the service contract and are recognised over time for 2019

and 2018.

Administrative expenses

Staff cost (Note 11.1)
Directors’ fees and expenses
Depreciation expense

Note 11.1 Staff costs

Wages and salaries
Pension plan expense
National Insurance
Other benefits

3,334,954 1,435,079
178,830 149,220
152,762 87,758

3,666,546 1,672 057

2,202,962 808,150
227,033 91,486

85,346 41,430
819613 494,013
3,334,954 1,435,079

The number of permanently employed staff as at the year-end was 6 (2018: §).
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

13

14

15

Other operating oxpenses

Travel expenses
Consultancy & outside services

IT expenses

Office expenses
Markeling cosis
Other expenses

Taxation

Current tax

Prior year under/(over) provision
Deferred tax (note B)

2019 2018
$ $

201,445 43,859
487,916 275,671
709,083 261,316
238,771 2,662
133,884 1,249
229 068 130,316
2,000,167 715,073
19,323,692 10,840,992
(6,112) {1,253)
1,844 (2,481)
19,319,424 10,837,258

The tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic

rate of tax as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax calculated at 30% (2018: 30%)
income exempt from tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Net effect of other charges and allowances
Net effect of changes in tax rates

Prior year under/(over) provision

Dividends

Ordinary dividend paid

64,113,105 35,997,056
19,233,931 10,799,117
(60,759) =
107,648 38,967
44,716 =

- 427

(8,112) (1,253)
19,319,424 10,837,258
25,159,798 =
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

30 September 2019
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

16 Related party balances and transactions
a. Direclors fees

Fees paid to directors by the Company for the period ended 30 September 2019 lotalled
$178,830 (2018 - $149,220).

b. Inthe normal course of business, the Company maintains account relationships and conducts
business with other affiliated companies in accordance with established commercial practice.
The significant balances are as follows:

2019 2018
$ $

Parent company

Due to parent company 857,959 973,791
Related parties

Cash and due from bank 44,702,919 33,056,564
Due from related parties 455,729 10,534
Due to related parties 321,199 11,567,527

c. The company did not enter into any course of business Government of Trinidad and Tobago, or
other state owned institutions, state agencies and local government bodies in 2019 (2018: nil).

17  Assets under management

Assets under management, which are not beneficially owned by the Company, but which are
managed by the Company on behalf of investors are listed below at carrying amount.

2019 2018
$ $
Pension and savings plans 7,894,252, 128 7,699,132,957
Mutual funds 6,610,194,117 6,676,713,692
Other funds 442,183,969 366,741,566
Off-balance sheet investments 14,946 630,214 14,742, 588,215

18 Subsequent events

There were no events after the financial position date which were material to the financial
statements and should have resuited in adjustment to the financial statement or disclosures when
the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Management’s Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

e Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of First Citizens Portfolio and
Investment Management Services Limited (the Company) which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 30 September 2020, the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information;

o Ensuring that the company keeps proper accounting records;
e Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

¢ Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of the
company’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of company operational
efficiencies;

o Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period;

e Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the Companies
Act; and

e Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards
presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in the
circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Company will not remain a going
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the accompanying financial
statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Qb (AL P T2 f%%

General Manager
2 December 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholder of
First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the financial position of
First Citizens Portfolio Investment Management Services Limited (the Company) as at 30 September
2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Company’s financial statements comprise:

e the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2020;

e the statement of income for the year then ended;

e thestatement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

o the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

o the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, Trinidad, West Indies
T: (868) 299 0700, F: (868) 623 6025, www.pwc.com/tt



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

e LEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Port of Spain
Trinidad, West Indies
4 December 2020
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

As at
30 September
Notes 2020 2019
$ $
Assets
Cash and due from bank 5 63,848,039 44 702,919
Property, plant and equipment 6 13,540 93,108
Other assets 7 9,556,714 11,210,175
Deferred tax asset 8 20,302 637
Tax recoverable - 3,816,745
Total assets 73,438,595 59,823,584
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses 9 1,478,853 2,254,449
Tax payable 2,556,575 6,397,440
Total liabilities 4,035,428 8,651,889
Capital and reserve attributable
to the company's equity holders
Share capital 10 5,594,000 5,594,000
Retained earnings 63,809,167 45 577,695
Total shareholder’s equity 69,403,167 51,171,695
Total equity and liabilities 73,438,595 59,823,584

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On 2 December 2020, the Board of Directors of First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services
Limited authorised these financial statements for issue.

Cik& \m», Jiﬂ(al)wtf thjk Director Q}l‘/— @""‘-““‘““"’Director




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Income

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolars)

Fee income

[nterest income

Other income

Forelgn exchange gain

Total net income

Impairment loss net of recoveries
Administrative expense
Other operating expense

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit for the year

Notes

11

12

14

Year ended
30 September
2020 2019
$ $

61,025,636 69,754,642
227,631 24,735
586,439 68,754
63,249 -
61,903,656 69,848,131
(151,002) -
(3,712,698) (3,666,546)
(1,669,315) {2,068,480)
56,370,650 64,113,105
(17,088,048) {19,319,424)
39,284 502 44 793,681

The notes on pages & to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.




First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Year ended
30 September
2020 2019
$ $
Profit for the year 39,284,502 44,793,681
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 39,284,502 44,793,681

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements,



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

Balance as at 1 October 2019

Comprehensive income

Profit for the period
Other comprehansive income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid {Note 15)

Balance at 30 September 2020

Balance as at 1 October 2018

Comprehensive income

Profit for the period
Cther comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid (Note 15)

Balance at 30 Septomber 2019

Share Other Retained Total
capital reserves earnings equity
$ $ $ $
5,564,000 -- 45,577,695 51,171,695
- - 39,284,502 39,284,502
- - 39,284,502 39,284 502
- -~ (21,053,030) (21,053,030}
5,594 000 -~ 63,808,167 69,403,167
5,694,000 -- 25,943,812 31,537,812
- - 44,793,681 44,793,681
- - 44,793,681 44,793,681
- - (25,159,798) {25,159,798)
5,694 000 -~ 45,577,695 51,171,695

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed In Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Interest income

Interest received

Unrealised foreign exchange gain

Depreciation expense

Impairment loss

Tax paid

Net cash flow from operating activities before changes in

operating assets & liabilities

Net change in other assets
Net change in creditors and accrued expenses

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities
Dividends paid

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

At beginning of peried
At end of period

Represented by:
Cash and due from bank

Year ended
30 September
2020 2019
$ $
56,370,550 84,113,105
(227,631) (24,735)
160,255 24,735
(63,850) --
90,480 152,762
161,002

(17,129,833)

(13,950,743)

39,351,063 50,315,124
1,633,595 (2,756,183)
(775,596) (10,745,350)

40,209,062 36,814,591
(10912)  _ (8438)
(10,912) (8,438)

(21,053,030)

(25,158,798)

{21,053,030)

(25,159,798)

19,145,120 11,648,355
44,702,919 33,066,664
53,848,038 44,702,819
63,848,039 44,702,918

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
{(Expressed fr_: Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

1

General information

First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited (the "Company®), is incorporated in

the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and is engaged in the provision of financial management services as
is authorised pursuant to its registration under Section 51 (1) of the Securities Act 2012 as an Investment

Advisor. It was a wholly owned subsidiary of First Citizens Bank Limited until 31 August 2018.

Effective 1 September 2018, First Citizens Investment Services Limited {(FCIS) assumed control of the
Company. The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings Limited, a company with a 64.43 %
controlling interest and is owned by the Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT). The
remainder of the shares are listed on the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange and are publicly traded.

The Company's registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless ctherwise stated.

a. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS. The financial statements are preparad under the liquidation basis of accounting. The
business operations of the Company resumed on 1 March 2018 after being wound up at 30
September 20186.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Company's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity or areas where assumptiions and estimates are significant to the financial staiements are
disclosed in Note 4.

(iy  Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by the
Company in the accounting period

+ IFRS 16 lLeases (effective 1 January 2019). This standard specifies how an IFRS reporter
will recognise, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee
accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless
the lease term in 12 menths and less or the underlying assets has a low value. Lessors
continue to classify ieases as operating or finance.

The company does not have rental leases and therefore does not anticipates any impact
on the Financial Statements.

¢ |FRIC 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (Effective 1 January 2019). The
interpretation addresses the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments under IAS 12, It specifically considers:
o Whether tax treatments should be considered coliectively
o Assumptions for taxation authorities” examinations
¢ The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax

credits and tax rates

o The effect of changes in facts and circumstances

The Company does not anticipate any impact on Financial Statements,



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 September 2020
{(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interprefations to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Company

The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards are not yet
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and have not been early
adopted by the Company:

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material (Effective 1 January 2020). The
amendments in Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and |AS 8) ciarify the definition
of 'material’ and align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework and the standards.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Effective 1
January 2020). The amendments in interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS
9, 1AS 39 and IFRS 7) clarify that entifies would continue to apply certain hedge accounting
requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows
and cash flows from the hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform.

Amendment to [FRS 3 — Amendments in Definition of a Business {Effective 1 January 2020).
The amendments ara changes fo Appendix A Defined Terms, the application guidance, and
illustrative sxamples of IFRS are:-

o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must
include, at a minimum, an input and substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs

o narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services
provided to customers and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

o add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive
process has been acquired;

o remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce outputs; and

o add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business.

Amendments to IFRS 16- Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Effective 1 June 2020). The
amendment provides lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COViD-19-
reiated rent concession is a lease modification,

The Company does not anticipate any impact or Financial Statements.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards not yet
effective on the financiat statements.

{10)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b. Foreign currency transiation

(B

(if)

Functional and presentation currency

lterns included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The financial
statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is the Company's functional
and presentation currency. The exchange rate between the TT dollar and the US dollar as at
the date of these statements was TT$ 6.7124 = US$1.00 (2019: TT$6.6926=US$1.00). This
rate represents the First Citizens Group mid-rate.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monstary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between translation differences
resuiting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of security. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are
recognised Iin profit or loss and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary items such as equities
classified as fair value through other comorehensive income financial assets are included in
other comprehensive income.

¢. Financial asse'ts and financial fiabilities

()

Financial assefs
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following business medels:

*  Hold for trading
+ Hold to collect and sell or
+  Hold to collect

Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following
three measurement categories:

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest {SPPI)), and that are not designated at FVPL are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected
credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.a. Interest income from
these financial assets — cash and due from other banks are Included in "Interest income” using
the effective interest rate method.

(11



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes o the Financial Statements
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
¢. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
() Financial assets (continued)
Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not
dasignated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVYOCH,
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or lesses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the
instrument’s amortised cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity
to profit and loss and recognised in “Net Investment Income”. Financial assets in this category
include unlisted equity instruments that are held for investment.

Fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented in the "income statement within "Gains on investments securities” in the period in
which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were classified ai fair value or which
are not held for trading, in which case they are presented in Investment interest Income. Financial
assets in this cafegory include listed equity insiruments that are held for investment.

Company’s business mode/

The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in crder to generate cash
flows. An assessment is made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of factors such as:

» The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice. More
specifically whether the Company's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows
from the assets or it to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the
saie of the assets.

« Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.

« Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to key
management perscennel.

« Managements identification of and response to varicus risks, which includes but not limited
fo, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk,

« Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and
forecasted liquidity reguirements.

Arising out of the assessment the portfolios were deemed to have the business models identified
as follows:

Hold to Collect

Fee income receivable
Cash

Due from related party

(12)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 September 2020
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
¢. Financial assels and financial fiabilities (continued)
{iy Financial assets {continued)
Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credif losses (ECL) associated
with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan
commitments and financial guarantee confracts. The Company recognises a loss allowance for
such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects!

s Anunbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

* The time value of money; and

+ Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
condlitions.

« Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to coflect confractual cash flows or to coilect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solely payment
of principal and interest (SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Company considers whether
the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes
only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms
intfroduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the
related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity frem the issuer's perspective;
that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and thai evidence a
residual interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include ordinary
shares,

- The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the Company’s managemsnt has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably

designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Company's policy is to designate equity investments as FVOC! when those investmenis are
held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value
gains and lpsses are recognised in OCI and are nat subsequently reclassified to profit or loss,
including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or
loss as other income when the Company's right to receive payments is established,

Gain and losses on equity investments classified as FVPL are included in the Income Statement.



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

C,

Financial assets and financial liabilities (confinued)

(i) Financial liabilities

(a)

Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior pericd, financia! liabilities are classified and subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition

Financial liabilities are deracognised when they are extinguished {i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing
financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and
the recognition of a new financia; liability. The terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net
of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10%
different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument
is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to
the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of
debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment.

If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term
of the modified liability.

impairment of non-financial assels

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the nigher of an asset's fair vaiue less costs to sell and value in
use, Forthe purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows {cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 September 2020
{Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e,

Lease transactions

Policies applicable after 1 October 2019

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 effective 1 October 2019, replaces IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4.

For all new contracts entered into on or after 1 October 2019, the Company assesses whether a
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract that conveys the right-of-use an
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration”. To assess whether a contract conveys the
right-of-use of an asset, the Company assessas whether;

the contract contains an identified assets, which is either explicity identified in the contract or
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Company

the Company has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the
assets through the period of use

the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset throughout the period of use. The
Company has this right when it has the rights to direct *how and for what purpose” the asset is
used.

The Company as the lessee

Until the 2019 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either
finance leases or operating leases. From 1 October 2019, the Company recognises leases as
a right-of-use asset and a lease llabllity at the date at which the leased asset is available for
use by the Company. The right of use is initially measured at the cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability, any initial direct cost incurred, an estimate of any cost to
dismantle and remove the asset or o restore the asset and less any lease incentive received.

The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight line basis from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the iease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the
same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. The Company also assess the right-of-
use asset for impairment when such indicators exists.

The Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments not paid
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate
canrot be readily determined, the Company's incremental borrowing rate, which is the Repos
rate. Lease liabilities include the nat present value of the following lease payments:-

+ fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentive

» variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date
amount expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees

« the exercise price under a purchase option, if the group is reasonably certain to exercise
that option

» lease payments in an opticnal renewal period, if the Company is reasonable certain to
axercise '

« penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising
this option

(15)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinldad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

e. Lease transactions (continued)

Policies applicable after 1 October 2019 (continued)

(i)

(ii)

The Company as the lessee (continued)

Payments assoclated with short-term leases and all low-value assets are recognised on &
straight-line basis as an expenses in the income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a
term of twelve {12) months or less. l.ow-value assets {$5,000 and under) comprise IT equipment
and small items of office furniture.

Policies applicable prior to 1 October 2019

Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4, They are divided into finance
leases and operating leases.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and methods of ownership are retained by
another party, the lessor, are classified as operating leases. Leases of assets where the
Company has substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.

Should the Company entered into operating leases where the total payments made under
operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease. When an operating lease is terminated before the period has expired, any penaity
payment made to the lessor is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes
place.

Whnen assets are heid subject to a finance lease, an asset and liability is recognised in the
staterment of financial position at amounts equal at inception te the fair value of the leased asset
ar, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and the outstanding liability so as to achieve a constant rate on the
finance balance outstanding.

The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period
s0 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liahility for
each period. The plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

The Company as the lessor

The Gompany's accounting policy under IFRS 16 has not changed.

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is
recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value
of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over
the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which reflects a constant
periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset for each period.

There were no finance leases or operating leases recognised by the company at the Statement of
Financial Position date.

f. Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reperted in tha statement of financial
position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(16)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

g.

Income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries cperate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities,

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of gocdwill; deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance shest date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferrad incoms tax liakility is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legaily enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation autherity on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net
basis.

Cash and cash equivalents
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances

on hand, deposits with commercial banks and short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less when purchased.



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
(Expressed In Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Intersst income and expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based
on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income
investments and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted
instruments.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effactive interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, prepayment options), but does not consider future credit losses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of
an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Dividend distribution

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by
the Company's shareholders. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year end, are
disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the abligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow wilt be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of the obligation as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small,

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessmentis of the time value of
maney and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Other debtors and prepayments
Other debtors and prepayments consist of amounts due from brokers, clients, staff advances and

related parties. These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and subseguently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2020
(E}_(pressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {(continued)

m.

Propaerty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation,

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable o the acquisition of the items,
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
Incurred. '

Leasehold improvements and eguipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land.

The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to

allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows;

Equinment and furniture ' 4-6 years
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-b years
l.easehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date, Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverabie,

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to ifs recovarable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the
assets fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are recognised within the
income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the ameunts included in fair value reserves are
transferred to retained earnings. As at September 2020 Freehold premises were nil (September
2019; nil),
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

n.

Intangible assets

Intangikcle assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
computer software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost.
The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of
acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amertised using the straight line method
over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be consumed, generatly not
exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite usefu life are not amortised. At each date
of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or
changes in estimated future economic benefits. 1f such indications exist, the intangible assets are
analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever there is
an indication that the asset may be impaired.

(iy Otherintangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from contractual
or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of intangible assets not
acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future economic benefits attributes
to the assets with flow from their use. The value of intangible assets which are acquired in a
business combination is generaily determined using income approach methodologies such as
the discounted cash flow method.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment, if any,
plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortisecd over their useful lives in a manner that
reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flow.

(i) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is recognised as a
capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Computer software
development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria are met:

o ltis technically feasible to complete the software and use it

Management intends to complete the software and use it

There an ability to use the software

Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use it
The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured.

o CCRQC

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful
lives but not exceeding a period of thres years.

(20)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

o.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying econcmic
benefits will be reguired to settle the cbligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in setflement is determined by considering the class of the obligation as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be smalll.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Employee benefits

(iy Pension Plan - First Citizens Group defined benefit pension plan

Staff members were admitted to the First Citizens (the Group) defined benefit pension plan with
effect from 1 January 2010 and their pensionable service in this plan commenced from this date.

The Group operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an amount of
pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. This pension plan is funded by
payments from employees and by the Company, taking account of the recommendations of
independent qualified actuaries.

The Group's defined benefit plan operates as a plan which shares risks among subsidiaries of
the Group which are under common control. The Group's policy is to recognise the net defined
benefit cost of the plan in the separate financial statements of First Citizens Bank Limited, the
entity which is legally considered the sponsoring employer of the plan. The Company
recoghises a cost equal to its contribution payable for its employees in its separate financial
statements, Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age,
years of service and compensation.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair
value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit
obligation is calculated based on cash outflows allocated to current or prior periods using
interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related
pension obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates
on government bonds are used. Pension contributions for the year amounted to TT$249,563
(2019; TT$227,033).

(i) Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Gompany recognises a liabifity and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a
formula that takes into consideration the Company’s profit before taxation. The Company
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
p.  Employee henefits (continued)

(i) Employee stock option pian

The Company operates a cash-settled based remuneration plan for its employees. A liability
is recognised for the fair value of the cash-settled transactions. The fair value is measured
initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in
the fair value recognised in the income statement, The fair value is expensed over the period
until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability.

(V) Payables and other liabilities

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, clients, business
related expenses and related parties. These are short term in nature and settlement is
expected within one year. Payabies and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
net of transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortised costs,

q. Fee and commission income

IFRS 18 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective 1 January 2018). This standard
provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers,
The five steps in the model are as follows:

- Identify the contract with the customer

|dentify the performance obligations in the contract

Determine the transaction price

- Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts
- Recognise revenue when {or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers, The performance obligations are
very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts, private placements,
portfolio management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio management.

Fees and commissions are recognised either at a point in time when the service has been provided
or over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. Commissions and fees arising from
negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses
are recognised at a point in time on compietion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other
management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts
usually on a time apportioned basis.

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period the
service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales. The same principle
is applied for wealth management, financial pianning and custody services that are continuously
provided over an extended period of time.

r. Investment management fees

Fees and commissions related to the provision of investment management services are
recognised monthly based on a fixed Service L.evel Agreement with its parent, First Citizens
Investment Services Limited. The Service Level Agreement came into effect March 2018 for an
initial period of twe years. The Service Level Agreement has been since revised with an effective
date 1 Octcber 2020.
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3 Financial risk management

The Company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis,
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is
core to the financial business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in
business. The Company's aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return
and minimise potential adverse effects on the Company's financial performance.

The Company's risk management palicies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable
and up-to-date information systems. The Company regularly reviews its risk management policies and
systems to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens (the Group) has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group's risk management framework. To assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its
duties, two Board Sub-Committees were established to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on
the overall risks within the Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Commiitee and the Board Credit
Committee; and two Senior Management Committees — the Senicr Manager Risk Committee and the
Asset Liability Committee,

The Enterprise Risk Unit, headed by the Chief Risk Officer, is responsible for the management,
measurement, monitoring and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Company through the
Operational Risk Unit, Credit and Risk Administration Unit, Market Risk Unit and Business Continuity
Planning Unit. The Enterprise Risk Unit reports into the Senior Management Risk Committee to allow
monitoring of the adherence to risk limits and the Impact of developments in the aforementioned risk
areas on strategy and how strategy should be varied in light of the developments.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and meniter the policies and
erocedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange rates
and other factors that can affect the Company’s liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to acceptable
levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and liabilities across
the Bank and the Group's various companies via the Treasury and International Trade Centre. The
Treasury and International Trade Centre's primary role and responsibility is to actively manage the
Company's liquidity and market risks, The ALCO is also supported in some specific areas of activity by
the Group's Market Risk Committee.

As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overali risk management, as well as
ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments. [n
addition, the Internal Audit Department is responsibie for the independent review of risk management
and the control envirenment, and reporis its findings and recommendation to the Board Audit
Committee.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk.
Market risk includes currency risk, interest rate and other price risk.
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3 Financlal risk management (continued)

a.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Company’s customers, clients or
market counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Company. Credit risk arises
mainly from interbank, commercial and consumer loans and advances, and loan commitments
arising from such lending activities, bu can also arise from credit enhancement provided, financial
guarantees, letters of credit, endorsements and acceptances.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Company's business; management therefore carefully
manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are centralised in a
Group Credit Risk Management team which reports regularly to the Group Chief Risk Officer and
the Board Credit Committee.

(i)

Credit risk management

In its management of credit risks, the Group has established an organisational structure
which supports the lending philosophy of the Group. This structure comprises the Board of
Directors, the Board Credit Committee (BCC), Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer (GCRO), the Group Credit Risk
Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department. The Board of Directors maintains
general oversight to ensure that policies and procedures are consistent with the strategic
direction and credit philosophy of the Group and that they serve to bring the required level of
protection over assets that are exposed fo credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision
making and timely implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for
specific areas to specific commitiees and/or officers with an approptiate reporting system to
the Board. The BCC focuses primarily on credit risk appetite and in so deing sanctions
amendments to credit poticies, delegation of lending authority to senior management and
credit requests exceeding the authority of management. The SMERC together with the

" GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may direct changes

to strategies to improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus of the Credit Risk
Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance with them and on a
continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing business environment, Most of
these policies are established and communicated through the Group's written Credit Policy
Manual. This document sets out in detail the current policies governing the lending function
and provides a comprehensive framework for prudent risk management of the credit
function. Major areas of focus are General Credit Policy Guidelines, Exercise of Lending
Authority, Credit Review Process, Credit Risk Rating and Classification System, among
others.

Credit risk exposure relating to financial assets on the statement of financial position are
as follows:

2020 2019
$ $
Cash and due from bank 63,848,039 44,702,919
Other debtors 9,252 549 11,097,101
73,100,588 55,800,020

There were no credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet items.
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3

Financial risk management {continued)

a,

Credit risk {continued)
(i) Risk limit control and mitigation policy

The Company structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of
risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, industry and country
segments. The Company monitors its concentration of credit exposure so that no singte
borrower or industry default will have a material impact on the Company. These limits are
implemented and monitored by the Credit Administration Department via the stipulations of the
Group Credit Policy Manual.

(a) Industry exposure limifs

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries. The ranking is guided by a model developed for the Company for this purpose.
The model utilises a scale incorporating scores of 1 to B with 1 being the least risky. These
have been consolidated into four (4) bands of exposure limits which have been setin
relation to the total credit portfolio with a smaller limit being assigned te the more risky
industries.

(b) Counfry exposure limits

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries which are considered to be
within the Company’s off-shore catchment area and/or target market. Five risk categories
have bean developed and the selected couniries have been assigned to these categories
based either on ratings issued by acceptable rating agencies or the Company's own
internal assessment of the economic and political stability of the target. Maximum cross
border exposure has been limited o a pre-deiermined portion of total assets and this
amount is allocated to the various risk categories with a larger share being allocated to the
moere highly rated categories.

(iiiy Definition of default and credit-impaired assels

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit- impaired, when it meets one or more of the foliowing criteria:

Quantitative criteria
The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria

The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant
financial difficulty. These are instances where:

¢ The borrower formally files for bankruptcy or there is a start of foreclosure proceedings.

« The obligation is classified doubtful or worse as per the Company's classification process.

« A modification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not normally
be considered is executed.

The criteria above have bean applied to all financial instruments held by the Company and are
consistent with the definition of defauli used for internal credit risk management purposes. The
default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability of Default (PD),
Exposure at Default (EAD} and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout the Company’s expected
loss calculations. An instrument is considered to no lenger be in default (i.e. to have cured)
when it no longer meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive period of six months. This
period of six months has been determined based on an analysis which considers the likelihood
of a financial instrument returning to default status after cure using different possible cure
definitions.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
a. Credit risk (continusd)

(iv)  Conceniration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure — Geographical sectors

The following table breaks down the Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by geographical region as of 30 September 2020. For this table, the
Company has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its
counterparties. The Company's investment portfolic comprising cash and cash equivalents,
and fees receivables are in one country. Limits for the country are reviewed on an annual or
more frequent basis and the exposures are menitored on a daily basis. The country exposures
are categorised into one regional sector within the portfolio are as foliows:

Caribbean Total
$ $
At 30 September 2020
Cash and due from bank 63,848,039 63,848,039
Other assets 9,252,649 3,252 546
As at 30 September 2020 73,100,588 73,100,588
Caribbean Total
$ $
At 30 September 2019
Cash and due from bank 44,702,919 44,702,919
Other assets 11,097,101 11,097,101

As at 30 September 2019 55 800.020 55.800.020

b. Markef risk

The Company takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash
fiows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise
from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general
and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as
interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Company separates
exposures to market risk Into either trading or non-trading portfolios. The market risks arising from
trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by the Company Market Risk department
who submit reports to the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee on a regular basis.
Additionally, on a monthly basis, the Group's Market Risk Committee reviews and approves the yield
curves used to value all investment securities and reperts on this into the Group ALCO. This
Committee also provides for the consideration of the Group ALCO technical information that may be
relevant to current and developing market conditions from time to time.

Trading portfolios inciude those portfolios arising from market-making transactions where the
Company acts as a principal with clients or with the market, Trading portfolios are those positions
entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital gains.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest-rate management of the Company’s retail and
commercial banking assets and liabllities. Non-trading pertfolics also consist of interest rate, foreign
exchange and equity risks arising from the Company’s financial assets.

As part of the management of market risk, the Company uses overall exposure in relation to capital
as the basis for confrolling market risk.

As at 30 September 2020, the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk
represented 99% of capital (30 September 2019: 99%).
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3 Financlal risk management (continued)

b. Market risk (continued)

(i

Currency risk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the
Company not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities, The Board sets limits on
the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are monitored
periodically, The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate
currency risk. The Company’s strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and sell high;
establish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners; limit foreign exchange
exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and match foreign
currency denominated assets with foreign currency denominated liabilities. The table below
summarises the Company's exposure tc foreign currency exchange rate risk at 30
September 2020, Included in the table are the Company’s financial instruments at carrying

amounts, categorised by currency.

if the Trinidad and Tobago dollar depreciates by 250 basis points against the United States

TT us Total
$ $ $
At 30 September 2020
Assets
Cash and due from bank 33,877,021 29,971,018 63,848,039
Other assets 7,800,196 1,452,353 9,252 549
Total assets 41,677,217 31,423,371 73,100,588
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses 1,233,528 245,325 1,478,853
Total liabilities 1,233,628 245,325 1,478,853
Net on statement of financial position 40.443,688 31,178,048 71,621,735
TT us Total
$ $ $
At 30 September 2019
Assets
Cash and due from bank 25,960,734 18,742,185 44,702,919
Other assets 9,853,434 1,143667 11,087,101
Total assets 35,914,168 19,885,862 55,800,020
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses 1,769,923 484,526 2,254,449
Total liabilities 1,769,923 484,626 2,254,449
Net on statement of financlal position 34,144,245 19,401,328 53,545,571

dollar, the profits would increase by $766,424 (2019: $485,033).
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

C.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash or its
equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall due under
normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows, The undiscounted
receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows are generally
settled within three to thirty days.

Liquidity risk management process

The Company’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and International Trade
Centre and monitored by the Group's Asset and Liability Committes (ALCO).

The Company's liquidity management framework is desighed to ensure that there are adequate
reserves of cash and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arising
from either on-statement of financial position or off-statement of financial position liabllities.

The Company relies on a broad range of funding sources and applies prudent limits to avoid undue
concentration. Current and projected cash flows are monitored, together with diversification of
funding and contingency planning, and ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.

Compliance with liguidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Company Market Risk Unit and
reported into the Senior Risk Management Committee via the Enterprise Risk Unit to the Board
Enterprise Risk Committee.

As at 30 September 2020

Up to 1 1t03 3to12 1to 5 Over 5

month months  months years years Total
Assets $ $ $ $ $ $
Cash and due from bank 63,869,867 - - - - 63,869,867
Other assets 9,252 549 -- - - - 8,252 549
Total assets 73,122,416 - -- - - 73,122 416
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued
expenses 1,478,853 -~ -- - - 1,478,853
Total liahilities 1,478,853 I -- -= -- 1,478,853
Liquidity gap 71,643,563 — - e - 71,643,563
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3 Financial risk management {continued)
C. Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 30 September 2019
Upto1 1to 3 Jto12 1to5 Over5

month months months years  years Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Assets

Cash and due from bank 44,702,019 - - - ~ 44,702,919
Other assets 11,097,101 - - - ~ 11,097,101
Total assets 56,600,020 - - -- -- 55,800,020
Liahilities

Creditors and accrued expenses _ 2,187,232 30,828 51,656 - - 2279716
Total liabilities 2,187,232 30,828 61,658 - —~ 2279718
Liquidity gap 53,612,788 (30,828) (61,666) == - 53,520,304

d. Price risk

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a finangial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or
currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The
Company is not exposed to other price risk as it hoids no equity instruments,

e, Off-statement of financial posttion items
(iy Financial guarantees and other financial facilifies

As of 30 September 2020, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial facilities
that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (September 2019 nil}.

(i) Capital commitments
The Company had no capital commitments as at 30 September 2020 (September 2019: nil).

(iiiy Operating lease commitments
The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 30 September 2020 (September 2018: nil).

f. Operational risk

Operating risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from system failure, human error, fraud and
external events. The Company's objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the
avoidance of financial losses and damage to the Company's reputation with overall cost effectiveness
and innovation. The Company manages this risk by developing standards and guidelines in the
following areas:

+ Appropriate segregation of duties and access.

Reconciling and monitoring of transactions.

Documentation of controls and procedures.

Training and development of staff.

Reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial actions.
Development of contingency plans.

Information security.

Assessments of the processes.

Business continuity planning.
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3 Financial risk management {continued)
a. Fair value of financial assefs and fliabilities
(iy Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets

and liabilities presented on the Company’s statement of financial position at an amount other
than their fair value.

Carrying value Fair value
2020 2019 2020 2019

$ $ $ $
Financial assets
Cash and due from
bank 63,848,039 44,702,919 63,848,038 44,702,919
Other assets 9252548 11,097,101 9,252 549 11,097,101
Financial
liabilities
Creditors and
accrued expenses 1,478,853 2,254,449 1,478,853 2,254 449

The fair values of the Company’s financial Instruments are determined in accerdance with
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Financial instruments where carrying value is equal fo fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values. Financial instruments where carrying value is equal
to fair value include cash and due from bank.

Financial instruments where carrying value is approximately equal to fair value include cash
and due from bank and other debtors.

Cash and cash equivalents

This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of these
short term depaosits is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

Receivables
Receivables are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of receivables

represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

(32)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 September 2020
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

3

Financial risk management (continued)

h.

Capifal mahagement

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 'equity’
on the face of the statement of financial position are;

* To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets where
the Company operates;

» To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

e To maintain a strong capital base to suppoert the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company's
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required
information is filed witnh the Authcrity on a regular basis as required.

The Autharity requires each securities company to hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of
five millien Trinidad and Tobago dollars, During those two periods, the Company complied with
all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. No estimates and assumptions were made
which would have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

a,

income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
pericd in which such determination is made. When appropriate, particularly where the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain, management also cbtains opinions or advice from leading fax
advisors and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such exposures.

The Company is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions. Tax is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Substantive enactment
is considered to be achieved when further steps in the enactment process will not change the
outcome of a proposed change in tax law. Management considers the legistative process
applicable in each jurisdiction in which it operates in determining at what point a proposed
change in tax law will be considered substantively enacted by identifying the point after which
further steps in the enactment process will not affect the outcome of the proposed change.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies {continued)

b,

Fees ahd commissions

The standard outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. IFRS 15 does not distinguish between revenue from sales of goods and services or

construction contracts. Instead, it defines transactions based on performance obligations satisfied
over time or at a point in time. The core underiying principle is that an entity should recognise
revenue in a manner that depicts the pattern of fransfer of goods and services to customers, The
amount recognised should reflect the amount to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods and services.

Revenue type Allocate the Recognise revenue Timing of impact
transaction price to | when (or as) each revenue from
separate performance obligation | recognition | adopting
performance is satisfied IFRS$15
obligations

Pension Fund & Revenue Is There is no separation of | Completion Nil

Private Portfolio recognised over time | performance obligation of full service
for the full completion pver time

of the scope of works
to the contract

Cther Revenue is There is no separation of | Completion Nil
recognised over time | performance obligation of full service
far the full completion over time

of the scope of works
to the contract

Cash and due from banks

2020 2019
$ $

Cash and bank halances 43,635,324 44,702 819
Short-term investments 20,212,715 --

63,848,{}39 44,702,919
Short-term investments:
Maturity within 3 months _ 20,212,715 -

20,212,716 -

The average effective interest rate on bank deposits was 0.8% (September 2019: 0.2%).
Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flow:

Cash balances 43,635,324 44,702,919
Short-term investments- maturity within 3 months 20,212,745 -
63,848,039 44 702 919
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{(Exprassed in Trinidad and Tohago Dollars)

6

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 September 2020
Cpening net book amount
Additions

Disposals at cost

Disposal - Acc depreciation
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 30 September 2020
Costrevaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 September 2019
Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals at cost

Disposal - Acc deprsciation
Depreciation charge

Closing net hook amount

At 30 September 2019
Costirevaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

At 30 September 2018
Cost/revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net bock amount

Office
Motor Computer  furniture &
vehicles equipment fittings Total
$ $ $ $
81,852 11,2564 2 93,108
- 10,911 1 10,012
{304,024} (3,404) -- (307,428)
304,024 3,404 -- 307,428
(81,852) (8,628) - (90,480)
- 13,537 3 13,540
- 37,109 3 37,112
- {23,572) - (23,572)
- 13,637 3 13,540
Office
Motor Computer furniture &
vehicles equipment  fittings Total
$ $ $ $

222171 15,261 - 237,432
- 8,436 2 8,438
(140,319) (12,443) - (162,782)
81,852 11,254 2 93,108
304,024 29,602 2 333,628
(222,172) (18,348) -~ (240,520}
81,852 11,254 2 93,108
304,024 21,186 - 325,190
{81,853) (5,805) - (87,758)
222,171 15,261 - 83,108
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7 Other assets

2020 2019
$ $

Fee income receivable 9,336,264 10,694,364
Provision for past due receivables (151,092) -
Accrued interest 67,376 --
Due from related party - 455,729
Green fund levy recoverable - 47,017
Prepayments 304,165 113,074
Intangible asset 1 1

9,656,714 11,210,175

Fee income receivable in the amount of $1,884,479 (Sept 2019; $1,688,822) is past due as at the
balance sheet date. Management has considered the duration and probability of default on these
receivables, and based on past experience, made a provision of TTD 151,092 on the amount considered
past due. tn addition, an assessment was carried out on the impact of ECL on the receivables at the
statement of position date. No adjustment was made to the P&L for the ECL which amounted to $646.

Period Past Due
As at 30 September 2020

Up to 1t03 3to12 1t0 5 Over
1 month months months Years 5 Years Total
Fee income receivable $ $ $ $ $ $
Pension plan fees 767,191 1,524,201 903,777 430,750 - 3,715,919
Mutual fund fees 4,780,387 - - - - 4,780,387
QOther fund fees 161,685 228,321 308,860 161,002 - 839,958
5,609,263 1,762,522 1,302,637 581,842 - 9,336,264
Period Past Due
As at 30 September 2019
Up to 1t03 3to12 1fo5 Over
1 month months months Years 5 Years Total
Fee income receivable $ $ $ $ $ $
Pension plan fees 718,853 1478117 1,339,462 35,000 -- 3,671,632
Mutual fund fees 6,408,380 - - -~ - 6,408,380
Other fund fees 129,779 160,303 247,154 77,206 - 614,442
7,257,112 1,638420 1,586616 112,206 - 10,694 354
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8

Deferred income tax asset

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using
an effective tax rate of 30% (2019: 30%).

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

At beginning of year
Credit to income statement (Note 14}
At end of year

Deferred income tax assets

Unrealised exchange gains
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred income tax assets

Unrealised exchange gains
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

2020 2019
$ $
637 2,481
19,665 (1,844)
20,302 837
Balance at Charge/ Charge/(credit) Balance at
1 October (credit) to to income 30 September
2019 equity statement 2020
§ $ $ $
1,070 - 19,1565 20,225
(433) - 510 77
837 - 19,665 20,302
Balance at Charge/ Charge/{credit) Balance at
1 October (credit} to to income 30 September
2018 equity statement 2019
$ $ $ $
1,070 - - 1,070
1,411 - {1,844) {433)
2,481 - (1,844) 6837

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to

the same fiscal authority.

The Company does not have any unrecognised losses. Deferred tax asset is expected to be

recovered as follows:

Within 12 months
After 12 months

2020 2019
$ $
20,225 1,070

77 (433)
20,302 637
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9 Creditors and accrued expenses

2020 2019
$ $
Due to related parties 645,104 1,179,168
Accrued expenses 833,749 1,075,291

1,478,853 2,254,449

As at September 2020 there was no balance (September 2018: $227,391) due to related party for
First Citizens Bank (the Bank). In the past these amounts were made up of payments made on behalf
of the Company to the directors and other vendors by the Bank. These amounts were non-interest
bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment.

10  Share capital

Autherised
5,000,000 shares of no par value

Issued and fully paid
4,999,999 ordinary shares of no par value 5,594,000 5,594,000

11 Fee income

Pension Fund & Private Peortfolio 8,160,690 8,942,614
Mutual funds fees 50,157 127 58,960,448
Other fund fees 1,707,819 1,851,680

61,025,636 69,754,642

All fees and commissions are specific to the service contract and are recognised over time for 2020
and 2019.

12 Administrative expenses

Staff cost (Note 12.1) 3,465,685 3,334,854
Directors' fees and expensas 156,623 178,830
Depreciation expense 90,480 162,762

3,712,698 3,666,546

12.1 Staff costs

Wages and salaries 2,323,774 2,202 062
Pension plan expense 248 563 227,033
National insurance 75,403 86,346
Other benefits 816,855 819,613

3,465,695 3,334,954

The number of permanently employed staff as at the 30 September 2020 was
5 (30 September 2019: 6).
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13

14

16

16

Other operating expenses

Travel expenses

Conslltancy & cutside services
IT expenses

Office expenses

Marketing costs

Other expenses

Taxation

Current tax
Prior year under/{over) provision
Deferred tax {(note 8)

2020 2019
$ $

132,666 201,445
571,885 487,916
308,333 709,083
237,229 238,771
145,244 133,884
273,958 297,381
1,669,315 2,068,480
17,105,713 19,323,692
- (6,112)
(19,665) 1,844
17,086,048 19,319,424

The tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic

rate cof tax as follows:

Profit hefore tax

Tax calculated at 30% {2019: 30%)
Income exempt from tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Net effect of other charges and allowances
Pricr year under/(aver) pravision

Dividends

Ordinary dividend paid

Related party balances and transactions
a. Directors fees

Fees paid to directors by the Company for the period
$156,623 (2019: $178,830).

56,370,550 64,113,105
16,911,165 19,233,931
(43,944) (60,759)
213,976 107,648
4,851 44,716

— (6,112)
17,086,048 19,319,424
21,053,030 25,159,798

ended 30 September 2020 totalled
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16  Related party balances and transactions (continued)

b. Inthe normal course of business, the Company maintains account relationships and conducts
business with other affiliated companies in accordance with established commercial practice.
The significant transactions are as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

Parent company

Cash and due from bank 20,212,718 -
Due to parent company 645,104 -857,859
Interest income 142,790 --
Related parties

Cash and due from bank 43,635,324 44 702,919
Cue from related parties - 455,729
Due to related parties - 321,199
Interest income 84,840 24,735

¢. The company did not enter into any course of business with the Government of Trinidad and Tobago,
or other state owned institutions, state agencies and local government bodies in September 2020
(2019: nil).

17  Assets under management

Assets under management, which are not beneficially owned by the Company, but which are managed
by the Company on behalf of investors are listed below at carrying amount.

2020 2019
$ $
Pension and savings plans 8,200,924,871 7,894,252 128
Mutual funds 6,894,782,549 6,610,194 117
Other funds 522 882,704 442,183,969
Off-balance sheet investments 15,618,680,124 14,946 630,214

18  Subsequent events
There were no events after the financial position date which were material to the financial

statements and should have resulted in adjustment {o the financial statement or disclosures when
the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Management's Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

e Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of First Citizens Portfolio and
Investment Management Services Limited which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30

September 2021 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the

year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information;
e Ensuring that the Company keeps proper accounting records:
» Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;
e Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security of the
Company’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of Company operational

efficiencies;

e Ensuring that the system of internal control operated effectively during the reporting period:;

* Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the Companies Act;

and
e Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Financial Reporting
Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted by the Institute of

Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial Reporting Standards presented

alternative accounting treatments, management chose those considered most appropriate in the
circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that the Company will not remain a going
concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the accompanying financial
statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

General Manager Head of Fi O e
23 November 2021 23 November 2021
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Independentauditor’s report

To the shareholder of
First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of First
Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited (the Company) as at 30 September
2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Company’s financial statements comprise:

e the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2021;

¢ the statement of income for the year then ended;

¢ the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended,;
¢ the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

e the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our auditin accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap propriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative butto do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, PO Box 550, 11-13 Victoria Avenue, Port of Spain, 100902, Trinidad, West Indies
T: (868) 299 0700, F: (868) 623 6025, www.pwc.com/tt



Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s rep ort that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence thatis sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we concludethat a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

/ “mzzgwa%ﬁféwc@@ oS
Port of Spain
Trinidad, West Indies
23 November 2021
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Financial Position
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

As at
30 September
Notes 2021 2020
$ $

Assets

Cash and due from banks S 91,191,173 63,848,039

Property and equipment 6 23,595 13,540

Other assets 7 10,400,496 9,556,714

Deferred income tax asset 8 11,276 20,302

Tax recoverable 2,365,607 -

Total assets 103,992,147 73,438,595
Liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses 9 1,281,080 1,478,853

Tax payable 7,308,713 2,556,575
Total liabilities 8,589,793 4,035,428
Capital and reserve attributable

to the company’s equity holders
Share capital 10 5,594,000 5,594,000
Retained earnings 89,808,354 63,809,167
Total shareholder’s equity 95,402,354 69,403,167
Total equity and liabilities 103,992,147 73,438,595

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On 23 November 2021, the Board of Directors of First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services
Limited authorised these financial statements for issue.

el
{/L:itnf l:-’:; <-dﬁ’ti=’§;\<—(w&.-(* ' Director C"(*-C (_/M W”r(ﬂ’ﬁéd’t Director

1
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Income

(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Feeincome

Interest income
Otherincome

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain

Total netincome

Impairment loss
Administrative expense
Other operating expense

Profit before taxation

Taxation

Profit for the year

Notes

11

12
13
14

15

Year ended
30 September
2021 2020
$ $

72,461,772 61,025,636
344,956 227,631
414,632 586,439
(25,976) 63,949
73,195,384 61,903,655
(134,887) (151,092)
(3,408,889) (3,712,698)
(1,702,942) (1,669,315)
67,948,666 56,370,550

(20,343,003)

(17,086,048)

47,605,663

39,284,502

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Year ended
30 September
2021 2020
$ $
Profit for the year 47,605,663 39,284,502
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -
Total comprehensive income for the year 47,605,663 39,284,502

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Balance as at 1 October 2020

Comprehensive income

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid (Note 16)

Balance at 30 September 2021

Balance as at 1 October 2019

Comprehensive income

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid (Note 16)

Balance at 30 September 2020

Share Retained Total
capital earnings equity
$ $ $
5,594,000 63,809,167 69,403,167
- 47,605,663 47,605,663
-- 47,605,663 47,605,663
- (21,606,476) (21,606,476)
5,594,000 89,808,354 95,402,354
5,594,000 45,577,695 51,171,695
- 39,284,502 39,284,502
- 39,284,502 39,284,502
- (21,053,030) (21,053,030)
5,594,000 63,809,167 69,403,167

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments to reconcile profit to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Interest income

Interest received

Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain)

Loss on disposal of property and equipment

Depreciation expense

Impairment loss

Tax paid

Net cash flow from operating activities before changes in
operating assets & liabilities

Net change in other assets
Net change in creditors and accrued expenses

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities
Dividends paid

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

At beginning of period
At end of period

Represented by:
Cash and due from banks

Year ended
30 September
2021 2020
$ $
67,948,666 56,370,550
(344,956) (227,631)
392,005 160,255
25,976 (63,850)
568 -
11,521 90,480
134,887 151,092

(17,947,445)

(17,129,833)

50,221,222 39,351,063
(1,051,695) 1,633,595
(197,773) (775,596)
48,971,754 40,209,062
(22,144) (10,912)
(22,144) (10,912)

(21,606,476)

(21,053,030)

(21,606,476)

(21,053,030)

27,343,134 19,145,120
63,848,039 44,702,918
91,191,173 63,848,039
91,191,173 63,848,039

The notes on pages 9 to 40 are an integral part of these financial statements.



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

1

General information

First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited (the “Company”), is incorporated in
the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago and is engaged in the provision of financial management services as
is authorised pursuant to its registration under Section 51 (1) of the Securities Act 2012 as a Broker Dealer.
It was a wholly owned subsidiary of First Citizens Bank Limited (the Bank) until 31 August 2018.

Effective 1 September 2018, First Citizens Investment Services Limited (FCIS), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Bank, assumed control of the Company. The ultimate parent company is First Citizens Holdings
Limited, a company with a 64.43% controlling interest in the Bank which is owned by the Government of the
Republic of Trinidad and Tobago (GORTT). The remainder of the Bank’s shares are listed on the Trinidad
and Tobago Stock Exchange and are publicly traded.

The Company'’s registered office is 17 Wainwright Street, St. Clair, Port of Spain.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a. Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

(i)  Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by the
Company in the accounting period

e Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material (Effective 1 January 2020). The

amendments in Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) clarify the definition
of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework and the standards.

e Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Effective 1
January 2020). The amendments in Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) clarify that entities would continue to apply certain hedge
accounting requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged
cash flows and cash flows from the hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform.

e Amendments to IFRS 16- Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Effective 1 June 2020).
The amendment provides lessees with an exemption from assessing whether a COVID -19-
related rent concession is a lease “modification”.

)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(i) Standards, amendment and interpretations which are effective and have been adopted by the
Company in the accounting period (continued)

Amendmentto IFRS 3 —Amendments in Definition of a Business (Effective 1 January
2020). The amendments are changes to Appendix A Defined Terms, the application
guidance, and illustrative examples of IFRS.

The adoption of the above standards has had no material impact on the Company’s
Financial Statements.

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Company

Amendments to IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before intended
use (Effective 1 January 2022). The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of
an item of property, plantand equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling such items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit
orloss.

Amendments to IAS 37 — Onerous Contracts-Cost of fuffilling a contract (Effective 1
January 2022). The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fuffilling’ a contract comprises the
‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can either
be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct labour, materials)
or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would
be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract).

Amendmentto IFRS 3 —Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Effective 1 January
2022). The amendments update an outdated reference to the Conceptual Framework in
IFRS 3 without significantly changing the requirements in the standard.

Amendments to IAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current
(Effective 1 January 2023). The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying
the requirements by helping companies determine whether, in the statement of
financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settiement date should
be classified as current (due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-
current.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 - Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform-Phase 2 (Effective 1 January 2021). The amendments in Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16)
introduce a practical expedient for modifications required by the reform, clarify that hedge
accounting is not discontinued solely because of the IBOR reform, and introduce
disclosures that allow users to understand the nature and extent of risks arising from the
IBOR reform to whichthe entity is exposed to and how the entity manages those risks as
well as the entity’s progress in transitioning from IBORs to alternative benchmark rates,
and how the entity is managing this transition.

(10)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Company (continued)

e Amendments IAS1, IAS 39 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 —Disclosure of Accounting
Policies (Effective 1 January 2023). The amendments require that an entity discloses
its material accounting policies, instead of its significant accounting policies. Further
amendments explain how an entity can identify a material accounting policy.
Examples of when an accounting policy is likely to be material are added. To support
the amendment, the Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain
and demonstrate the application of the four-step materiality process’ described in
IFRS Practice Statement 2.

¢ Amendmentto IAS 8 —Definition of Accounting Estimates (Effective 1 January 2023).
The amendments replace the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a
definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting estimates are
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. Entities develop accounting estimates if accounting policies require
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty. The amendments clarify that a change in accounting estimate that
results from new information or new developments is not the correction of an error.

e Amendments to IAS 12- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction (Effective 1 June 2023). The amendments clarify that the initial
recognition exemption does not apply to transactions in which equal amounts of
deductible and taxable temporary differences arise on initial recognition.

The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of the new and revised standards not
yet effective on the financial statements.

b.  Foreign currency translation

()

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The financial
statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. The exchange rate between the TT dollar and the US dollar as at
the date of these statements was TT$ 6.6926 = US$1.00 (2020: TT$6.7124=US$1.00). This
rate represents the First Citizens Group mid-rate.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

(11)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b.  Foreign currency translation (continued)
(i) Transactions and balances (continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are analysed between translation differences
resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of security. Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are
recognised in profit or loss and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-monetary items such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive income financial assets are included in
other comprehensive income.

C. Financial assets and financial liabilities
(i) Financial assets
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following business models:

e Holdto collect
e Holdto collectand sell
e Holdfortrading

Based on these factors, the Company will classify its assets into one of the following
measurement categories:

Amortised cost

Assets held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI), and that are not designated at FVPL would be
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of those assets would be adjusted by any
expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured as described in note 3.a. Interest
income from those financial assets — cash and due from banks are included in “Interestincome’
using the effective interest rate method.

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where
the assets cash flows represents solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not
designated at FVVPL, would be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount would be taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and
losses on the instrument’'s amortised cost which would be recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value
through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or
loss and presented in the income statement within “Gains on investments securities” in the
period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that were classified at fair value
or which are not held for trading, in which case they are presented in Investment Interest
Income using the effective interest rate. Financial assets in this category include listed equity
instruments that are held for investment.

12)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

C. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Company’s business model

The business model reflects how the Company measures the assets in order to generate cash
flows. An assessment would be made at a portfolio level and includes an analysis of factors
such as:

The stated objective and policies of the portfolio and the operation of those in practice.
More specifically whether the Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or it is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows
arising from the sale of the assets.

Past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected.

Determination of performance targets for the portfolio, how evaluated and reported to key
management personnel.

Management’s identification of and response to various risks, which includes but not limited
to, liquidity risk, market risk, credit risk, interest rate risk.

Management considers, in classifying its assets, the level of historical sales and
forecasted liquidity requirements.

Arising out of the assessment of the portfolios, the Company would be deemed to have the
following business models:

Hold to Collect

Hold to Collect and Sell

Hold for Trading

Non-Eurobonds maturing greater than
3 years at recognition

Bonds issued by the Government of
Trinidad & Tobago less than 3years

Equities

Bonds issued by Governmentof
Trinidad & Tobago (GOTT)

Eurobonds

Fee incomereceivable

Non-Eurobonds maturing less than
3 years at recognition

Cash

Due fromrelated party

Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL)

associated with its assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The Company recognises a
loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

The time value of money; and

Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

Note 3.a.iii provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.

(13)
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30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

C. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

()

(ii)

Financial assets (continued)
Solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether flows represent solely
payment of principal and interest (SPPI test). In making this assessment, the Company
considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective; that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that
evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include
ordinary shares.

The Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the Company’s management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably
designate an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Company'’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments
are held for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair
value and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in OCl and are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Company’s right to receive payments is established.

For equity investments classified as fair value through P&L all gains and losses would be
recognised in the Income Statement.

Financial liabilities
(&) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortised cost.
(b) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contractis discharged, cancelled or expires).

14



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
C. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
(ii) Financial liabilities (continued)
(b) Derecognition (continued)

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with
substantially different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing
financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least
10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original
financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the
instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features
attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment.

If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees

incurred adjustthe carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining
term of the modified liability.

d. Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. Forthe purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

e. Write-off

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery

efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no

reasonable expectation of recovery include:

(i) ceasing enforcement activity and

(ii) where the Group'’s effort to dispose of repossessed collateral is such that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering in full.

(15)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

f.

Lease transactions

For all new contracts entered into on or after 1 October 2019, the Company assesses whether a
contractis, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as “a contract that conveys the right-of-use an
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration”. To assess whether a contract conveys the
right-of-use of an asset, the Company assesses whether:

()

the contract contains an identified asset, which s either explicitly identified in the contract or
implicitly specified by being identified at the time the assetis made available to the Company

the Company has the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the
assets through the period of use

the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset throughout the period of use. The

Company has this right when it has the rights to direct “how and for what purpose” the asset is
used.

The Company asthe lessee

Until the 2019 financial year, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either
finance leases or operating leases. From 1 October 2019, the Company recognises leases as
aright-of-use asset and a lease liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for
use by the Company. The right of use is initially measured at the cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability, any initial direct cost incurred, an estimate of any costto
dismantle and remove the asset or to restore the asset and less any lease incentive received.

The Company depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight line basis from the
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined onthe
same basis as those of property, plantand equipment. The Company also assess the right-of-
use asset for impairment when such indicators exists.

The Company measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments not paid
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicitin the lease or if that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate, which is the Repos
rate. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: -

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentive
variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate at the commencement date
amount expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees
the exercise price under a purchase option, if the group is reasonably certain to exercise
that option

e lease payments in an optional renewal period, if the Company is reasonable certain to
exercise

e penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Company exercising
this option

Payments associated with short-term leases and all low-value assets are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expenses in the income statement. Short-term leases are leases with a
term of twelve (12) months or less. Low-value assets ($5,000 and under) comprise IT equipment
and small items of office furniture.

(16)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

f. Lease transactions (continued)

(i) The Company as the lessor

When assets are held subjectto a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is
recognised as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value
of the receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over
the term of the lease using the net investment method (before tax), which reflects a constant
periodic rate of return on the remaining balance of the asset for each period.

There were no finance leases or operating leases recognised by the Company at the Statement
of Financial Position date.

g. Offsettingfinancial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

h. Income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respectto situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis.

an
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash
balances on hand, deposits with commercial banks and short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less when purchased.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method based
on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income
investments and accrued discount and premium on treasury bills and other discounted
instruments.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a
financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interestrate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective
interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (for example, prepayment options), but does not consider future creditlosses. The
calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once afinancial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of
an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Dividend distribution

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are approved by
the Company’s shareholders. Dividends for the year, which are declared after the year end, are
disclosed in the subsequent events note when applicable.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the
obligation can be made. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of the obligation as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

(18)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

m.

Other debtors and prepayments

Other debtors and prepayments consist of clients, staff advances, accrued interest, intangibles,
prepayments and related parties. These amounts are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plantand equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Leasehold improvements and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation and amortisation are computed on all assets except land.

The provision for depreciation and amortisation is computed using the straight-line method to

allocate their cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Equipment and furniture 4-5 years
Computer equipment and motor vehicles 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements Amortised over the life of the lease

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amountis the higher of the
assets fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant
and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount and are recognised within the
income statement. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in fair value reserves are
transferred to retained earnings.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

0.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from business combinations,
computer software licenses and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost.
The cost of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of
acquisition. Intangible assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the straight line method
over the period that the benefits from these assets are expected to be consumed, generally not
exceeding 20 years. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. At each date
of the statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or
changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets are
analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. Animpairmentlossis
recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

The Company chooses to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and whenever there is
an indication that the asset may be impaired.

(i) Otherintangible assets

Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from contractual
or other legal rights, the cost can be measured reliably and in the case of intangible assets not
acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future economic benefits attributes
to the assets with flow from their use. The value of intangible assets which are acquired in a
business combination is generally determined using income approach methodologies such as
the discounted cash flow method.

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation and provisions for impairment, if any,
plus reversals of impairment, if any. They are amortised over their useful lives in a manner that
reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash flow.

(i) Computer software

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an
expense when incurred. However, expenditure that enhances or extends the benefits of
computer software programmes beyond their original specifications and lives is recognised as a
capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. Computer software
development costs recognised as assets when the following criteria are met:

It is technically feasible to complete the software and use it

Management intends to complete the software and use it

There is an ability to use the software

Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use it
The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably
measured.

O OO0 O O

The software development costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful
lives but not exceeding a period of three years.

(20)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

p. Employee benefits

()

(ii)

(iii)

Pension Plan - First Citizens Bank defined benefit pension plan

First Citizens Bank operates a defined benefit plan, which is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefits that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on
one or more factors, such as age, years of service and compensation. This pension plan is
funded by payments from employees and by the Bank, taking account of the
recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

The Bank's defined benefit plan operates as a plan which shares risks among subsidiaries of
the Group which are under common control. The Bank's policy is to recognise the net
defined benefit cost of the plan in the separate financial statements of First Citizens Bank
Limited, the entity which is legally considered the sponsoring employer of the plan. The Bank
recognises a cost equal to its contribution payable for its employees in its separate financial
statements.

The liability or asset is recognised in the Bank’s statement of financial position. In respect of
the defined benefit pension plan, as at September 2021, the defined benefit pension plan
asset represented the fair value of the plan’s asset less the present value of the obligation at
the end of thereporting period. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The Company’s contribution to
the plan amounted to TT$343,480 (2020: TT$249,563) (Note 13). These contributions would
have been recharged by the Bank and settled through the intercompany.

Profit sharing and bonus plans

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on
a formula that takes into consideration the Company’s profit before taxation. The Company
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

Employee stock option plan

The Bank operates a cash-settled based remuneration plan for its employees. The Bank
recognises the fair value of the cash-settled share based transactions, which is measured
initially and at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in
the fair value recognised in the income statement. The fair value is expensed over the period
until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding liability. The Company recognises
an expense which is settled with the Bank through an intercompany recharge.

gq. Payables and other liabilities

Payables and other liabilities represent short term obligations to brokers, clients, business related
expenses and related parties. These are short termin nature and settlementis expected within one
year. Payables and other liabilities are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs, and
subsequently measured at amortised costs.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

r.

Fee and commission income

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This standard provides a single, principles
based five-step modelto be applied to all contracts with customers.

IFRS15 core underlying principle is that an entity should recognise revenue in a manner that
depicts the pattern of transfer of goods and services to customers. The performance obligations are
very contract specific for the various services: wealth managed client accounts, private placements,
portfolio management fees and commissions and mutual funds portfolio management.

Fees and commissions are recognised either at a point in time when the service has been provided
or over time as the performance obligations are satisfied. Commissions and fees arising from
negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses
are recognised at a point in time on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other
management advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts
usually on a time apportioned basis.

Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period the
service is provided and accrued in accordance with pre-approved fee scales. The same principle
is applied for wealth management, financial planning and custody services that are continuously
provided over an extended period of time.

Fees and commissions related to the provision of investment management services are
recognised monthly based on a fixed Service Level Agreement with its parent, First Citizens
Investment Services Limited. The Service Level Agreement came into effect March 2018 for an
initial period of two years. The Service Level Agreement has been since revised with an effective
date 1 October 2020.

Revenue type Allocate the Recognise revenue Timing of Impact
transaction priceto | when (or as) each revenue from
separate performance obligation | recognition | adopting
performance is satisfied IFRS15
obligations

Pension Fund & | Revenueis There is no separation of | Completion Nil

Private Portfolio | recognised overtime | performance obligation of full service
for the full completion overtime

of the scope of works
to the contract

Other Revenue is There is no separation of | Completion Nil
recognised over time | performance obligation of full service
for the full completion overtime

of the scope of works

to the contract

Fiduciary activities

The Company acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing
of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These
assets and income arising thereon are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not
assets of the Company (Note 18).
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3 Financial risk management

The Company'’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis,
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks for its funds
under management. The Company’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk
and return and minimise potential adverse effects for its funds under management and the financial
performance of the company. The Company regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems
to reflect changes in markets, products and emerging best practice.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors of First Citizens (the Group) has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. To assist the Board of Directors in fuffilling its
duties, two Board Sub-Committees were established to monitor and report to the Board of Directors on
the overall risks within the Group - the Board Enterprise Risk Committee and the Board Credit
Committee; and two Senior Management Committees — the Senior Manager Risk Committee and the
Asset Liability Committee.

The Enterprise Risk Unit, headed by the Chief Risk Officer, is responsible for the management,
measurement, monitoring and control of operational, market and credit risk for the Company through the
Operational Risk Unit, Credit and Risk Administration Unit, Market Risk Unit and Business Continuity
Planning Unit. The Enterprise Risk Unit reports into the Senior Management Risk Committee to allow
monitoring of the adherence to risk limits and the impact of developments in the aforementioned risk
areas on strategy and how strategy should be varied in light of the developments.

The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) was established to manage and monitor the policies and
procedures that address financial risks associated with changing interest rates, foreign exchange rates
and other factors that can affect the Company’s liquidity. The ALCO seeks to limit risk to acceptable
levels by monitoring and anticipating possible pricing differences between assets and liabilities across
the Bank and the Group’s various companies via the Treasury and International Trade Centre. The
Treasury and International Trade Centre’s primary role and responsibility is to actively manage the
Company’s liguidity and market risks. The ALCO is also supported in some specific areas of activity by
the Group’s Market Risk Committee.

As part of its mandate, the Board establishes written principles for overall risk management, as well as
ensuring that policies are in place covering specific areas of risk, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments. In
addition, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for the independent review of risk management
and the control environment, and reports its findings and recommendation to the Board A udit
Committee.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Company’s customers, clients or
market counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Company. Credit risk arises
mainly from cashand due from bank and receivables from third parties and related parties, but can
also arise from credit enhancement provided, financial guarantees, letters of credit, endorsements
and acceptances.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Company’s business; management therefore carefully
manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are centralised in a
Group Credit Risk Management team, which reports regularly to the Group Chief Risk Officer and
the Board Credit Committee.

0

Credit risk management

In its management of credit risks, the Group has established an organisational structure,
which supports the lending philosophy of the Group. This structure comprises the Board of
Directors, the Board Credit Committee (BCC), Senior Management Enterprise Risk
Committee (SMERC), the Group Chief Risk Officer (GCRO), the Group Credit Risk
Management Unit and the Internal Audit Department. The Board of Directors maintains
general oversight to ensure that policies and procedures are consistent with the strategic
direction and credit philosophy of the Group and that they serve to bring the required level of
protection over assets that are exposed to credit risks. To facilitate day to day decision
making and timely implementation of decisions, the Board has delegated authority for
specific areas to specific committees and/or officers with an appropriate reporting system to
the Board. The BCC focuses primarily on credit risk appetite and in so doing sanctions
amendments to credit policies, delegation of lending authority to senior management and
credit requests exceeding the authority of management. The SMERC together with the
GCRO monitors the effectiveness of credit policies and procedures and may direct changes
to strategies to improve the effectiveness of policies. The major focus of the Credit Risk
Management Unit is to formulate credit policies, monitor compliance with them and on a
continuous basis to assess their relevance to the changing business environment. Most of
these policies are established and communicated through the Group’s written Credit Policy
Manual. This document sets out in detail the current policies governing the lending function
and provides a comprehensive framework for prudent risk management of the credit
function. Major areas of focus are General Credit Policy Guidelines, Exercise of Lending
Authority, Credit Review Process, Credit Risk Rating and Classification System, among
others.

Credit risk exposure relating to financial assets on the statement of financial position are
as follows:

2021 2020
$ $
Cash and due from bank 91,191,173 63,848,039
Other assets 10,140,437 9,252,549
101,331,610 73,100,588

There were no credit risk exposures relating to off balance sheet items.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
a. Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Risk limit control and mitigation policy

The Company, as portfolio managers structures the levels of credit risk for the funds under
management by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one client, or groups
of clients. The Company monitors its concentration of credit exposure so that no single client
default will have a material impact on the funds under management. These limits are
implemented and monitored by the Credit Administration Department via the stipulations of the
Group Credit Policy Manual.

(a) Industry exposure limits

These limits have been established based on a ranking of the riskiness of various
industries. The ranking is guided by a model developed for the Company for this purpose.

(b) Country exposure limits

Exposure limits have been established for selected countries, which are considered to be
within the Company’s offshore catchment area and/or target market.

(iii) Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Company defines a financial instrument as in default, or credit- impaired, when it meets
one or more of the following criteria:

Quantitative criteria
The receivable is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments.

Qualitative criteria

The client meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the client is in significant financial
difficulty. These are instances where:

The client formally files for bankruptcy or there is a start of foreclosure proceedings.

e The obligation is classified doubtful or worse as per the Company’s classification process.
A modjification to the terms and conditions of the original agreement that would not normally
be considered is executed.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Company and are
consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The
default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability of Default (PD),
Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD), throughout the Company’s expected
loss calculations. An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured)
when it no longer meets any of the default criteria for a consecutive period of six months. This
period of six months has been determined based on an analysis which considers the likelihood
of afinancial instrument returning to default status after cure using different possible cure
definitions.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

(iv) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure — Geographical sectors

The following table breaks down the Company’s main credit exposure at their carrying
amounts, as categorised by geographical region as of 30 September 2021. For this table, the
Company has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its
counterparties. The Company’s investment portfolio comprising cash and cash equivalents,
and fees receivables are in one country. Limits for the country are reviewed on an annual or
more frequent basis and the exposures are monitored on a daily basis. The country exposures
are categorised into one regional sector within the portfolio are as follows:

Caribbean Total
$ $
At 30 September 2021
Cash and due from bank 91,191,173 91,191,173
Other assets 10,140,437 10,140,437
As at 30 September 2021 101,331,610 101,331,610
Caribbean Total
$ $
At 30 September 2020
Cash and due from bank 63,848,039 63,848,039
Other assets 9,252,549 9,252,549

As at 30 September 2020 73,100,588 73,100,588

b. Market risk

The Company takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise
from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to
general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or
prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The company
own book is significantly cash as at September 2021, which experiences limited market risk.

The Company as a Broker Dealer manages the market risk for its funds under management by
separating the exposures to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios. The market risks
arising from trading and non-trading activities are measured separately by the Company Market Risk
Department who submit reports to the Senior Management Enterprise Risk Committee on a regular
basis. Onamonthly basis, the Group’s Market Risk Committee reviews and approves the yield
curves used to value all investment securities and reports on this into the Group ALCO. In addition,
the funds under management have their individual sale policy.

Trading portfolios include those portfolios arising from market-making transactions where the
Company acts as a principal with clients or with the market. Trading portfolios are those positions
entered into primarily to take advantage of market movements to generate capital gains.

Non-trading portfolios also consist of interest rate, foreign exchange and equity risks arising from the
Company’s financial assets.

The Company’s main exposure to market risk is interest rate and FXrisk. As at 30 September 2021,
the total value of assets to which the Company faced market risk represented 99% of capital (2020:
99%).
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

b.  Marketrisk (continued)

()

Currency risk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign
currency exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. It is the policy of the
Company not to engage in speculative foreign exchange activities. The Board sets limits on
the level of exposure by currency and in aggregate for all positions, which are monitored
periodically. The Company does not currently engage in any hedging activities to mitigate
currency risk. The Company’s strategy of managing this risk is to buy low and sell high;
establish relationships with corporate foreign exchange earners; limit foreign exchange
exposure; avoid speculation with an aim to keep a balanced position; and match foreign
currency denominated assets with foreign currency denominated liabilities. The table below
summarizes the Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 30
September 2021. Included in the table are the Company’s financial instruments at carrying
amounts, categorized by currency.

TT us Total
$ $ $

At 30 September 2021
Assets
Cash and due from bank 62,190,832 29,000,341 91,191,173
Other assets 7,995,165 2,145,272 10,140,437
Total assets 70,185,997 31,145,613 101,331,610
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses 1,249,468 31,612 1,281,080
Total liabilities 1,249,468 31,612 1,281,080
Net on statement of financial position 68,936,529 31,114,001 100,050,530

TT us Total

$ $ $
At 30 September 2020
Assets
Cash and due from bank 33,877,021 29,971,018 63,848,039
Other assets 7,800,196 1,452,353 9,252,549
Total assets 41,677,217 31,423,371 73,100,588
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued expenses 1,233,528 245,325 1,478,853
Total liabilities 1,233,528 245,325 1,478,853
Net on statement of financial position 40,443,689 31,178,046 71,621,735

If the Trinidad and Tobago dollar depreciates by 250 basis points against the United States
dollar, the profits would increase by $777,850 (2020: $779,451).
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
b. Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and
future cash flows. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of the changes in
market interest rates. Cash flow interest rate risk is therisk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of the
changes in market interest rate. The Company takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing level of market interest
rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.

Interest earnings are immaterial and the Company does not have any long-term borrowings. Hence, interest rate risk does not have a

significant impact on its operations.

The table below summarises the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk. The assets and liabilities are categorised by the contractual

date.
As at 30 September 2021

Assets

Cash and due from bank
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses
Total liabilities

Interest sensitivity gap

If interest rates were to move by 2.5% (2020: 2.5%) the impact on fees & commission will be $1,106,585 (2020: $1,125,707).

Non-
Up to 1to 3 3to 12 1to 5 Over interest
1 month months months Years 5Years Bearing Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $

44,263,404 - - - -- 46,927,769 91,191,173
-- - - -- -- 10,140,437 10,140,437

44,263,404 - - -- -- 57,068,206 101,331,610
-- -- -- -- -- 1,281,080 1,281,080
-- -- -- -- -- 1,281,080 1,281,080

44,263,404 - - - -- 55,787,126 100,050,530
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
b.  Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 30 September 2020

Assets
Cash and due from bank
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses
Total liabilities

Interest sensitivity gap

Uptol 1to 3 3to 12 1to 5 Over 5 Non-interest
month months months years years bearing Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
45,028,263 -- -- -- - 18,819,776 63,848,039
- -- -- - - 9,252,549 9,252,549
45,028,263 -- -- -- -- 28,072,325 73,100,588
- - - - -- 1,478,853 1,478,853
- - - - -- 1,478,853 1,478,853
45,028,263 - - - -- 26,593,472 71,621,735

(29)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

C.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to generate or obtain sufficient cash or
its equivalent in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet its commitments when they fall due
under normal and stress circumstances and arises from fluctuation in cash flows. The
undiscounted receivables and payables liquidity exposure is mitigated because these cash flows
are generally settled within three to thirty days.

Liquidity risk management process

The Company'’s liquidity management process is carried out by the Treasury and International
Trade Centre and monitored by the Group’s Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO).

The Company’s liquidity management framework is designed to ensure that there are adequate
reserves of cash and other liquid securities to satisfy current and prospective commitments arising
from either on-statement of financial position or off-statement of financial position liabilities.

The Company relies on a broad range of funding sources and applies prudent limits to avoid undue
concentration. Current and projected cash flows are monitored, together with diversification of
funding and contingency planning, and ensuring that funding disturbances are minimised.

Compliance with liquidity policies and risk limits is tracked by Company Market Risk Unit and
reported into the Senior Risk Management Committee via the Enterprise Risk Unit to the Board
Enterprise Risk Committee.

As at 30 September 2021

Upto1l 1to 3 3to 12 1to 5 Over 5

month months months years years Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Assets
Cash and due from bank 91,207,921 -- - -- -- 91,207,921
Other assets 10,140,437 -- -- -- -- 10,140,437
Total assets 101,348,358 -- -- -- -- 101,348,358
Liabilities
Creditors and accrued
expenses 1,281,080 -- -- -- -- 1,281,080
Total liabilities 1,281,080 -- -- -- -- 1,281,080
Liquidity gap 100,067,278 -- -- -- -- 100,067,278

(30)



First Citizens Portfolio and Investment Management Services Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

30 September 2021
(Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

3 Financial risk management (continued)
c.  Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 30 September 2020
Uptol 1to 3 3to 12 1to5 Overb

month months months vyears years Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Assets

Cash and due from bank 63,869,867 -- -- - - 63,869,867
Other assets 9,252,549 -- -- -- -- 9,252,549
Total assets 73,122,416 -- -- -- - 73,122,416
Liabilities

Creditors and accrued expenses 1,478,853 -- -- -- -- 1,478,853
Total liabilities 1,478,853 -- -- -- - 1,478,853
Liquidity gap 71,643,563 -- -- -- -- 71,643,563

d. Price risk

Price risk arises due to the possibility that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or
currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The
Company is not exposed to other price risk as it holds no equity instruments.
e. Off-statement of financial position items
(i) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
As of 30 September 2021, the Company had no financial guarantees or other financial facilities
that result in a commitment to meet financial obligations (September 2020: nil).
(ii) Capital commitments
The Company had capital commitments of $4,163,533 as at 30 September 2021 (2020: nil).
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
f. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(i) Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The following table summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets

and liabilities presented on the Company’s statement of financial position at an amount other
than their fair value.

Carrying value Fair value
2021 2020 2021 2020
$ $ $ $
Financial assets
Cash and due from
banks 91,191,173 63,848,039 91,191,173 63,848,039
Other assets 10,140,437 9,252,549 10,140,437 9,252,549
Financial liabilities
Creditors and
accrued expenses 1,281,080 1,478,853 1,281,080 1,478,853

The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments are determined in accordance with
International Accounting Standard (IFRS) 9 “Financial instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Financial instruments where carrying value is equal to fair value

Due to their liquidity and short-term maturity, the carrying values of certain financial
instruments approximate their fair values. Financial instruments where carrying value is equal
to fair value include cash and due from bank.

Cash and due from banks

This amount represents short term deposits and other bank balances. The fair value of these
short term deposits is approximately equal to their carrying amount.

Receivables
Receivables are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of receivables

represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received.
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

g.

Capital management

The Company’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’
on the face of the statement of financial position are:

e To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the securities markets where
the Company operates;

e To safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

¢ To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Company’s
management, employing techniques based on the requirements of the Trinidad and Tobago
Securities and Exchange Commission (the Authority), for supervisory purposes. The required
information is filed with the Authority ona regular basis as required.

The Authority requires each securities company to hold the minimum level of regulatory capital of
five million Trinidad and Tobago dollars. During those two periods, the Company complied with
all of the externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Company makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. No estimates and assumptions were made
which would have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.

a.

Income taxes

Management judgment is required in determining provisions for income taxes and there are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determinationis uncertain. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the
period in which such determinationis made. When appropriate, particularly where the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain, management also obtains opinions or advice from leading tax
advisors and regularly reassesses its strategy in relation to such exposures.

Tax is calculated onthe basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date. Substantive enactment is considered to be achieved when further steps in the
enactment process will not change the outcome of a proposed change in tax law. Management
considers the legislative process applicable in each jurisdiction in which it operates in
determining at what point a proposed change in tax law will be considered substantively enacted
by identifying the point after which further steps in the enactment process will not affect the
outcome of the proposed change.
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5

Cash and due from banks

2021 2020
$ $

Cash and bank balances 70,864,113 43,635,324
Short-term investments 20,327,060 20,212,715

91,191,173 63,848,039
Short-term investments:
Maturity within 3 months 20,327,060 20,212,715

20,327,060 20,212,715

The average effective interest rate on bank deposits was 0.438% (2020: 0.8%).
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6

Property and equipment

Year ended 30 September 2021
Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals at cost

Disposal - Acc depreciation
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 30 September 2021
Cost/revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 September 2020
Opening net book amount
Additions

Disposals at cost

Disposal - Acc depreciation
Depreciation charge

Closing net book amount

At 30 September 2020
Cost/revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

At 30 September 2019
Cost/revaluation
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Office
furniture,
Motor Computer fittings &
vehicles equipment equipment Total
$ $ $ $
- 13,537 3 13,540
- 22,140 4 22,144
- (1,461) - (1,461)
- 893 - 893
- (11,521) - (11,521)
- 23,588 7 23,595
- 57,788 7 57,795
- (34,200) - (34,200)
- 23,588 7 23,595
Office
Furniture,
Motor Computer Fittings &
Vehicles Equipment Equipment Total
$ $ $ $
81,852 11,254 2 93,108
- 10,911 1 10,912
(304,024) (3,404) - (307,428)
304,024 3,404 - 307,428
(81,852) (8,628) - (90,480)
- 13,537 3 13,540
- 37,109 3 37,112
- (23,572) - (23,572)
- 13,537 3 13,540
304,024 29,602 2 333,628
(222,172) (18,348) - (240,520)
81,852 11,254 2 93,108
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7 Other assets

2021 2020
$ $
Fee income receivable 9,752,785 9,187,538
Due from related party 367,324 148,726
Provision for past due receivables -- (151,092)
Accrued interest 20,327 67,376
Prepayments 260,059 304,165
Intangible asset 1 1
10,400,496 9,556,714

Fee income receivable in the amount of $600,550 (2020: $1,884,479) is past due as at the balance
sheet date. Management has considered the duration and probability of default on these receivables
based on past experience. An assessment was carried out on the impact of ECL on the receivables at
the statement of position date. No adjustment was made to the P&L for the ECL, which amounted to
$21,014. The provision for past due receivables was written off against the fee income receivable as at
30 September 2021.

Feeincome Receivable
As at 30 September 2021

Up to 1to 3 3to 12 1to 5
1 month months months Years Total
$ $ $ $ $
Pension plan fees 855,933 1,757,559 152,025 106,554 2,872,071
Mutual fund fees 6,537,616 -- -- -- 6,537,616
Other fund fees 160,809 207,641 193,246 148,726 710,422

7,554,358 1,965,200 345,271 255,280 10,120,109

Fee Income Receivable
As at 30 September 2020

Upto 1to 3 3to 12 1to 5
1 month months months Years Total
$ $ $ $ $
Pension plan fees 767,191 1,524,201 993,777 430,750 3,715,919
Mutual fund fees 4,780,387 -- -- -- 4,780,387
Other fund fees 151,685 228,321 308,860 151,092 839,958

5,699,263 1,752,522 1,302,637 581,842 9,336,264
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8 Deferred income tax asset

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using
an effective tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%).

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

At beginning of year

(Charge)/credit to income statement (Note 15)

At end of year

Deferred income tax assets

Unrealised exchange gains
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

Deferred income tax assets

Unrealised exchange gains
Accelerated tax depreciation

Net deferred income tax asset

2021 2020
$ $
20,302 637
(9,026) 19,665
11,276 20,302
Balance at Charge/(credit) Balance at
1 October toincome 30 September
2020 statement 2021
$ $ $
20,225 (7,793) 12,432
77 (1,233) (1,156)
20,302 (9,026) 11,276
Balance at Charge/(credit) Balance at
1 October toincome 30 September
2019 statement 2020
$ $ $
1,070 19,155 20,225
(433) 510 77
637 19,665 20,302

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to

the same fiscal authority.

The Company does not have any unrecognised losses. Deferred tax assetis expected to be

recovered as follows:

Within 12 months
After 12 months

2021 2020
$ $
12,432 20,225
(1,156) 77

11,276 20,302

@7
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9

10

11

12

13

Creditors and accrued expenses

Due to related parties
Accrued expenses

Share capital

Authorised
5,000,000 shares of no par value

Issued and fully paid
4,999,999 ordinary shares of no par value

Feeincome

Pension Fund & Private Portfolio
Mutual funds fees
Other fund fees

Impairment loss

Write offs/Provision for impairment

Administrative expenses

Staff cost (Note 13.1)
Directors’ fees and expenses
Depreciation expense

13.1  Staff costs
Wages and salaries
Pension plan expense
National insurance
Other benefits

2021 2020
$ $
490,070 645,104
791,010 833,749
1,281,080 1,478,853
5,594,000 5,594,000
10,018,776 9,160,690
60,531,936 50,157,127
1,911,060 1,707,819
72,461,772 61,025,636
(134,887) (151,092)
(134,887) (151,092)
3,233,353 3,465,595
164,015 156,623
11,521 90,480
3,408,889 3,712,698
2,363,271 2,323,774
343,480 249,563
81,960 75,403
444,642 816,855
3,233,353 3,465,595

The number of permanently employed staff as at the 30 September 2021 was 6 (2020: 5).
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14

15

16

17

a.

Other operating expenses

Travel expenses
Consultancy & outside services

IT expenses

Office expenses
Marketing costs
Other expenses

Taxation

Current tax

Prior year over provision
Deferred tax (note 8)

2021 2020
$ $
126,000 132,666
676,032 571,885
302,939 308,333
340,764 237,229
11,302 145,244
245,905 273,958
1,702,942 1,669,315
20,426,673 17,105,713
(92,696) -
9,026 (19,665)
20,343,003 17,086,048

The tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic

rate of tax as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax calculated at 30% (2020: 30%)
Income exempt from tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Net effect of other charges and allowances
Prior year over provision

Dividends

Ordinary dividend paid

Related party balances and transactions

67,948,666 56,370,550
20,384,600 16,911,165
(62,061) (43,944)
97,162 213,976
15,998 4,851
(92,696) -
20,343,003 17,086,048
21,606,476 21,053,030

Directors fees

Fees paid to directors by the Company for the period ended 30 September 2021 totalled

$164,015 (2020: $156,623).
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17 Related party balances and transactions (continued)

b. In the normal course of business, the Company maintains account relationships and conducts
business with other affiliated companies in accordance with established commercial practice.
The significant transactions are as follows:

2021 2020
$ $

Parent company

Cash and due from banks 20,327,060 20,212,715
Due to parent company 490,070 645,104
Interest income 127,563 142,790
Related parties

Cash and due from banks 70,864,113 43,635,324
Due fromrelated parties 367,324 148,726
Interest income 217,394 84,840

C. The Company did not enter into any course of business with the Government of Trinidad and
Tobago, or other state owned institutions, state agencies and local government bodies in
September 2021 (2020: nil).

18  Assets under management

Assets under management, which are not beneficially owned by the Company, but which are managed
by the Company on behalf of investors are listed below at carrying amount.

2021 2020
$ $
Pension and savings plans 9,379,583,469 8,200,924,871
Mutual funds 7,396,788,504 6,894,782,549
Other funds 632,968,342 522,882,704
Off-balance sheet investments 17,409,340,315 15,618,590,124

19 Subsequent events
There were no events after the financial position date, which were material to the financial

statements and should have resulted in adjustment to the financial statement or disclosures when
the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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